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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2021
—E-—HF
Revenue KA HK$1,893.6 million HK$3,440.7 million \ 4 45.0%
1,893.6 HEE T 34407 EEATT
Profit attributable to owners AREREEA HK$123.9 million HK$474.9 million \ 73.9%
of the parent iyl 1239EERT A7TA9BEET
Basic earnings per share FREREBF HKO0.77 cent HK2.77 cent \ 4 72.2%
0.77;384L 2.77 4
Total dividends declared per share B E RS B 2% HKO0.3 cent HKO0.6 cent \ 4 50.0%
0.3 8L 0.6 784l
AT 31 MARCH
R=A=+—-H
2021
—E-_—F
Total assets mEEE HK$20.45 billion HK$19.09 billion A 7.1%
20458 T 190918/ T
Net assets FEER HK$9.97 billion HK$9.68 billion A 2.9%
99.7 & T 96.818/8 7T
Net asset value per share SREEE HK$0.60 HK$0.56 A 7.1%
0.60 7% T 0.56 87T
Gearing ratio BELE 54.6% 47.7% A 6.9%
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‘ FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)
MR ()

REVENUE
A
HK$ million BE&A7T

2021 | <5
o | Y ) ;.40.7
oo | Y ) 009,

et | ) 2.621.0

2017 869.4

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE PARENT
BARRZIIFEAELETR
HK$ milion BEET

2021

2020 474.9 (restated) (fSE5))
2019

2018 1,223.4
2017
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)
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ASSETS EMPLOYED
HRAE

CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES
"HERAR

As at 31 March 2021
R-_ZE-—F=A=+—H

8% 12%
9%

:B%‘..

48%

As at 31 March 2021
R-_ZE-_—F=ZA=+—H

Other Operations . Property Property Capital and Bank and Other
Hih % Development Investment Reserves Borrowings
MR MERE BARREE RITREMEE
. Treasury Management Cash . Non-Controlling Other Liabilities
MEER Be Interests Hih g g
IR R
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS GEARING RATIO
OF THE PARENT RAfRikE
BARRRIIFBTARGRS
HK$ million Percentage
BEBT ATk
6,061.9
6,438.1 (restated) 54.6%  47.7%
(#&&E5) (restated)
5,891.0 5,799.5 (geE5)
40.0%
I 25.1% 26.6%

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EERE

Dear Shareholders,

REVIEW OF THE YEAR

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the
“Directors”) of Wang On Group Limited (the “Company”,
stock code: 1222), | am pleased to announce the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “year under
review”).

Looking back at 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has dealt
a heavy blow to the global and local economic activities.
Hong Kong's Gross Domestic Product (GDP) decreased by
6.1% for 2020 as a whole, marking an economic recession
for two consecutive years for the first time. Local private
consumption expenditure fell sharply by 7.6% year-on-year. As
for the property market, the local residential property market
demonstrated a steady performance, driven by the continued
low interest rate environment and strong market demand.
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REVIEW OF THE YEAR (continued)

During the year under review, the Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2021 decreased by 45% to HK$1,893.6 million
(2020: HK$3,440.7 million). As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s
net assets were HK$9,969.0 million (2020: HK$9,683.8 million
(restated)). Its cash resources amounted to HK$2,471.9 million
(2020: HK$1,974.0 million), of which, cash and bank balances
of HK$1,730.3 million (2020: HK$1,584.0 million) and short-
term investment of HK$741.6 million (2020: HK$390.0 million).
The performance reflected a steady development during the
year under review. The Group’s business segments such
as management, operation and leasing of fresh market and
agricultural produce exchange markets, property development
and investment, treasury management, Chinese and Western
pharmaceuticals, remained a steady growth and robust financial
position.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Wang On Properties Limited (“WOP”, listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with
stock code: 1243), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
maintains a balanced portfolio of properties, which comprises
residential and commercial properties and asset management. It
provides the largest and stable source of income for the Group.
During the year under review, WOP continued its steady business
performance.

In recent years, WOP has been cooperating with other developers
and enterprises to improve operational efficiency, which not only
allows the Group to allocate financial resources more appropriately,
but also enables WOP to gradually realise its asset-light business
cooperation model. During the year under review, “Altissimo”,
a seaside luxury project located in Ma On Shan which is co-
developed by WOP, Country Garden Holdings Company Limited
and China State Construction International Holdings Limited, was
highly sought after by the market and was delivered during the year.
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HIEFE 2 W AR 2 45% % 1,893,600,000
Bt ( — & = FT 4 : 3,440,700,00078 7T ) °
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= % {E /59,969,000,0008 T( = & = &
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

Besides, the WOP and CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (“CIFI”)
co-developed “maya”, a project located at Yau Tong. It was
also officially delivered at the end of 2020 and the units were
put up for sale as completed flats, with current sales amount of
approximately HK$3.6 billion. WOP actively looked for project
acquisitions during the year under review to replenish land
reserves. During the year under review, WOP and CIFI worked
together again to acquire the entire interest in the properties
located at 101 and 111 King’s Road, Fortress Hill, Hong Kong
with a total consideration of HK$1.88 billion. WOP holds 40%
equity interest in this development project.

With the theme of multi-storey Ginza type commercial complexes,
the Group established the “LADDER” brand. LADDER Dundas,
a trendy commercial building located at Nos. 575-575A Nathan
Road, has become an iconic building in Mong Kok. The Group
also invested in shops and office buildings to secure the recurring

income.

Apart from the real estate business, the current treasury
management business of the Group is engaged in the financing
and investment of debt and other securities which earn interest
income. The Group maintains a strong financial position. Liquid
investments amounted to approximately HK$1,305.0 million as at
31 March 2021, represented a decrease of approximately 18.3%
from the balance of approximately HK$1,597.2 million as at 31
March 2020. The liquid investments represented approximately
60.1% of the debt securities, approximately 12.6% of equity
securities and approximately 27.3% of fund investment.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (“CAP”, listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 149), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group, is principally engaged in the logistics of
agricultural produce in China, with a nationwide chain of wholesale
markets and a network of modern agricultural produce logistics
center, linking the southern and northern regions and across
the eastern and southwestern parts of the PRC. During the year
under review, CAP managed a total of 11 agricultural produce
exchange markets in mainland China, covering Wuhan, Huangshi,
Suizhou, Luoyang, Puyang, Kaifeng, Yulin, Qinzhou, Xuzhou,
Huai’an and Panjin. The business has spreaded across various
provinces such as Hubei Province, Henan Province, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province and Liaoning
Province.

Given the volatility of the COVID-19 pandemic, in order to protect
the health and safety of tenants and customers, the Group follows
the latest national and local government’s guidelines on epidemic
prevention. We implement strict epidemic prevention measures to
ensure the safety of the team, and strive to provide a market with
hygienic environment for the community. The specific preventive
measures of the Group include requiring every employee to
report their travel history and any symptoms; maintaining a safe
and hygienic workplace; implementing a series of strict epidemic
prevention measures in the market; and strengthening education
on epidemic prevention for the frontline staff of market stalls, etc.

The management will closely monitor the development of the
COVID-19 pandemic, timely assess its impact on the daily
operation of the Group, and undertake response measures.
Although the uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic persists, the
Group expects that it will not have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s fresh markets and agricultural produce exchange markets
business and financial performance.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

The Group actively participates in the management and leasing of
fresh markets, and is one of the largest leasing operators of fresh
market in Hong Kong. The Group owns the modern fresh market
brand “Allmart” and new-style fresh market “Day Day Fresh”, and
operates a portfolio of approximately 800 stalls in Hong Kong. In
mainland China, the Group manages the operation of 16 fresh
markets through its joint venture under the “Huimin” brand in
various districts of Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC.

The fresh markets segment is one of the major source of the
Group’s profits and cash flows. During the year under review, the
segment maintained a sound business performance. In addition,
the Group continued to install electronic monetary transaction
facilities for merchants in our fresh markets and introduced more
electronic payment methods, so as to improve the cash handling
efficiency for merchants and cater to the needs of consumers
using electronic payment methods.

In recent years, the Group had commenced building a portfolio
of self-owned fresh markets in Hong Kong through joint ventures,
with its new-style fresh markets featuring high-quality and leisurely
elements under “Day Day Fresh” brand opened in the shopping
arcades in The Parkside in Tseung Kwan O and Lake Silver in Ma
On Shan, respectively.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (“WYT”, listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 897), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group is principally engaged in the development,
processing and retail of pharmaceutical and healthcare products.
Its retail outlets in Hong Kong own a team of experienced Chinese
medicine practitioners recognised by Chinese Medicine Council
of Hong Kong. As of 31 March 2021, we have 77 retail outlets
in Hong Kong and Macau. During the year under review, WYT
recorded a loss as for its business and performance. During the
year under review, WYT established 15 new stores in various
domestic areas, and continued to actively recruit experienced
registered Chinese medicine practitioners to join the team to
contribute to our business development. As at 31 March 2021,
WYT has 62 retail stores in Hong Kong to provide one-stop
Chinese medicine health care services.

Although the pandemic has hit the tourism market, the Group
actively adjusted its business strategy and reorganised its
store network. The Group focuses on the livelihood market in
Hong Kong, and will accelerate the development of local online
business and also that in mainland China to continuously expand
the proportion of online channels in the future. The management
expects that after the pandemic, commercial activities will resume,
and the market will be back on track. At that time, WYT will
expand its business in due course.

After the outbreak of the pandemic, the public’s health awareness
has greatly enhanced, and the demand for high-quality Chinese
medicine healthcare products has also increased. In addition, the
Diagnosis and Treatment Protocol for COVID-19 (Trial Version)
issued by National Health Commission of the People’s Republic
of China incorporates Angong Niuhuang Wan (Z=4&H) into
the treatments for severe cases of internal blockage and external
desertion pattern, which draws an enormous amount of exposure for
Angong Niuhuang Wan from both domestic and overseas markets.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

In Hong Kong, the Group has established a self-supporting
official online shopping platform — “Wai Yuen Tong e-Shop” and
has also opened a flagship store on HKTVmall.com. In mainland
China, the Group has opened Wai Yuen Tong flagship stores on
Tmall.com and JD.com. The application of digitalization strategies
allows customers to select products on more convenient and easier
channels, and conduces to the improvement of market penetration
and promotion efficiency, which further expands the customer base
and deepens the customer stickiness of Wai Yuen Tong brand.

Considering the increase in the market demand for pet wellness
products in recent years, WYT has expanded into the pet market
to increase new income. During the year, WYT has launched
a series of pet wellness products named “PROVET”, which is
developed by the team of Chinese medicine practitioners which
is hired by WYT. WYT has launched a series of pet wellness
products and it plans to launch products to markets such as
Taiwan in the next financial year.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

The Group has always practiced the spirit of good corporate
citizenship and actively participated in various volunteer
services, community care, fundraising and environmental
protection activities, committed to fulfilling sound corporate
social responsibilities. During the year under review, the Group
organised and supported various charity events, including sending
mooncakes to the elderly in residential care homes at the Mid-
Autumn Festival and distributing rice at the Yu Lan Festival. During
the pandemic, we visited local grass-roots families and distributed
epidemic prevention materials to them. At the same time, we
showed care for the elderly by visiting and distributing health
protection gift packs to them. We also offered free consultations
and fifty percent discount for the first dose of Chinese medicine.
In addition, before the arrival of the cold weather at the end of last
year, we delivered blankets to the grassroots and provided hand
sanitizer to people in need, etc., so as to support those in need
during the anti-epidemic period in Hong Kong.

For the environmental protection, social and governance
work done by the Group during the year, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be issued.
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LOOKING AHEAD

Looking ahead to 2021, due to the continuous global economic
turbulence, it is expected that the growth of major economies
will slow down, but the market investment sentiment will
gradually improve. As it is forecasted that there will be full of
uncertainties under the hardships, it will be difficult for the retail
and trade environment in mainland China, Hong Kong and
Macau to improve. Although Hong Kong's economy is still facing
many uncertainties, the pandemic has not slowed down the
development of the real estate market. The local market will still
move forward against the challenges in the short term. Despite
the global economic recession and challenges that the pandemic
has thrown to the market, Hong Kong's financial market and
investor confidence have remained stable as a whole.

APPRECIATION

Founded in Hong Kong over 30 years ago, Wang On Group has
always stood with Hong Kong, and managed through peaks
and troughs of the market together. The experience and insight
we have accumulated in the changing environment endow us
with motivation to turn crisis into opportunities when facing up to
adversity, and lay a solid foundation for our future development.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere
gratitude to our customers, business partners, shareholders and
institutional investors for their continued support for and trust in
the Group during the period. | hereby also thank the members of
the Board and all employees for their contributions and dedication
to the Group. | hope that we will keep on working together with
different stakeholders in the future, to tide over difficulties with
concerted efforts and share achievements with each other.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWED T

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s
revenue and profit attributable to owners of the parent amounted
to approximately HK$1,893.6 million (2020: approximately
HK$3,440.7 million) and approximately HK$123.9 million (2020:
approximately HK$474.9 million (restated)), respectively.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO0.2 cent (2020: HKO0.5 cent) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 March 2021 to the shareholders (the “Shareholders”)
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
as of 3 September 2021. The final dividend will be paid on or
around 14 September 2021, subject to the Shareholders’ approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on 25 August 2021. Together with the interim dividend of
HKO.1 cent (30 September 2019: HKO.1 cent) per ordinary share,
the total dividends for the year ended 31 March 2021 will be
HKO0.3 cent (2020: HKO.6 cent) per ordinary share.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021
decreased by approximately 45% to approximately HK$1,893.6
million (2020: approximately HK$3,440.7 million). The reduction
in revenue was mainly due to the decrease in property sales
contributed from property development projects with controlling
stake. On the other hand, the share of profits of joint ventures
has been increased significantly to HK$594.8 million (2020:
approximately HK$28.1 million) mainly due to increase in
property sales and profit contributed from jointly developed
property projects during this financial year. Profit for the year was
approximately HK$101.8 million (2020: approximately HK$784.3
million (restated)), representing a decrease of approximately
87.0% over last year, mainly due to the absence of the gain on
bargain purchase arising from the acquisition of a controlling
interest in China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (“CAP”, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 149, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “CAP Group”) and the
decrease in gain on disposal/redemption of debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income.

The profit attributable to owners of the parent was approximately
HK$123.9 million (2020: approximately HK$474.9 million
(restated)). The Group continues to maintain a strong financial
position.

As of 31 March 2021, the Group’s net assets were approximately
HK$9,969.0 million (2020: approximately HK$9,683.8 million
(restated)). Its cash resources amounted to approximately
HK$2,471.9 million (2020: approximately HK$1,974.0 million)
including cash and bank balances of approximately HK$1,730.3
million (2020: approximately HK$1,584.0 million) and short-
term investments of approximately HK$741.6 million (2020:
approximately HK$390.0 million). In aggregate, the total
borrowings as of 31 March 2021 was approximately HK$7,172.0
million (2020: approximately HK$6,205.0 million) giving the Group
a net debt position (total borrowings less cash and bank balances)
of approximately HK$5,441.7 million (2020: approximately
HK$4,621.0 million). The review of the individual business
segments of the Group is set out below.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, property development
segment recorded revenue and segment profit of approximately
HK$534.4 million and approximately HK$494.7 million,
respectively (2020: approximately HK$2,368.4 million and
approximately HK$787.9 million, respectively).

The above segment revenue and profit represents the Hong Kong
residential and commercial property market sales from Wang
On Properties Limited (“WOP”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively the “WOP Group”), a non-wholly owned listed
subsidiary of the Company; and also the property sales in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), following the acquisition
in February 2020 of a controlling interest in CAP (the “CAP
Acquisition”) by Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(“WYT”, a non-wholly owned listed subsidiary of the Company,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “WYT Group”).

The revenue contributed by the WOP Group amounted to
HK$301.3 million during this financial year. Reduction in revenue
was mainly due to the decrease in property sales contributed from
property development projects with controlling stake. Instead,
profit from property sales for the WOP Group in this financial year
was mainly generated from its jointly developed property projects,
namely maya and Altissimo, which have been included as part of
the segment results (profit) but not segment revenue.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s property
development business in the PRC recorded revenue of
approximately HK$233.1 million (2020: nil). The increase in
revenue contributed from CAP Group is mainly due to the fact
that the CAP Acquisition took place during the last two months
during the last financial year, while CAP’s full year’s performance
is consolidated into the Group’s accounts in the current financial
year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

maya

“maya” is located at No. 8 Shung Shan Street and No. 15 Sze
Shan Street, Yau Tong. This residential project is co-developed
by the WOP Group and CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (“CIFI").
The WOP Group holds a 50% stake in the project. As at 28 June
2021, 294 out of 326 units have been sold with an aggregated
contracted sales amounted to approximately HK$3.6 billion.
Moverover, 269 units with aggregate contract sale amounted to
approximately HK$3.2 billion have been delivered to buyers.

Altissimo

The residential project, Altissimo, located at No. 11 Yiu Sha
Road, Ma On Shan, is co-developed by the WOP Group, Country
Garden Holdings Company Limited and China State Construction
International Holdings Limited, and has been delivered to buyers
in the fourth quarter of 2020. As at 28 June 2021, 505 out of
547 units have been sold with an aggregated contracted sales
amounted to approximately HK$5.3 billion. Moveover, 474 units
with an aggregate contract sales amounted to approximately
HK$4.4 billion have been delivered to buyers. The WOP Group
owns 40% equity interest in this property development project.

Pokfulam residential project

In April 2018, the WOP Group completed the acquisition of all
16 properties located at Nos. 86A-86D Pokfulam Road, Hong
Kong. The site will be redeveloped into luxurious properties and
is undergoing the foundation work. The WOP Group owns 70%
equity interest in this property development project.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The Met. Azure (Tsing Yi residential project)

The WOP Group’s new residential property in Liu To Road and
Hang Mei Street, Tsing Yi (Tsing Yi Town Lot No. 192) was
formally named as The Met. Azure in May 2021. The project
has a site area of approximately 14,400 square feet with an
expected total permitted residential floor area of approximately
80,000 square feet. The Met. Azure has a low-density design
with a total of 320 units. Approximately 80% of the units are
studio flats and the others are one-bedroom and special units.
The land has the convenience of easy accessibility, being within
only a several-minutes’ ride to Tsing Yi MTR Station, and is also
connected with major highways linked to Tsing Ma Bridge, Tai
Lam Tunnel, and Ting Kau Bridge of Tuen Mun Road. It can be
used for both commercial and residential development and is
designed to provide a public transportation terminal (Public Light
Bus Terminal). The project is wholly-owned by the WOP Group, of
which pre-sale consent is pending for approval as of the date of
this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Ap Lei Chau project

In July 2020, the WOP Group has successfully acquired a new
redevelopment site located at Nos. 120-126, Main Street, Ap
Lei Chau. The site is adjacent to MTR Lei Tung Station. The
total attributable gross floor area (“GFA”) upon redevelopment is
approximately 37,100 square feet and the project is wholly-owned
by the WOP Group. Foundation work is currently undergoing at
the site.

Fortress Hill project

In October 2020, the WOP Group and CIFI formed a new joint
venture, in which CIFl and the WOP Group owned 60% and 40%
equity interest, respectively. The joint venture has acquired 101
and 111 King’s Road, Fortress Hill, Hong Kong for a total sum of
HK$1.88 billion. The total site area is approximately 12,400 square
feet and the sites are situated between North Point commercial
area and Victoria Park in Causeway Bay. The sites are positioned
at a convenient location within only a few minutes’ walk to the
Fortress Hill MTR Station. The sites are planned to be redeveloped
into a residential project with commercial space. Demolition work
is expected to be commenced in year end.

Tai Kok Tsui project

In January 2021, the WOP Group has successfully completed the
acquisition of the site located at 50-62 Larch Street and 6-8 Lime
Street, Tai Kok Tsui through court-ordered compulsory sales. The
GFA is approximately 61,500 square feet and the site is currently
under demolition work.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Other projects

The WOP Group is currently in possession of three urban
redevelopment projects with over 80% ownerships secured.
Applications to the court are being made in respect of all these
projects for compulsory sale orders under the Land (Compulsory
Sale for Redevelopment) Ordinance (Chapter 545 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). In the event that no court order is granted, the
WOP Group may not be able to complete the consolidation of
the ownership for redevelopment. The total attributable GFA upon
redevelopment is approximately 175,000 square feet.

As at 28 June 2021, the Group had a development land portfolio
in Hong Kong (which is being held through the WOP Group) as
follows:
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The fresh market and agricultural produce exchange market
business segment, which is a consistent source of profit and
cash, recorded an increase in revenue by approximately 146.3%
to approximately HK$654.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2021 (2020: approximately HK$265.7 million) as a result of annual
revenue of approximately HK$387.6 million from the operation of
agricultural produce exchange markets contributed by the CAP
Group, following the CAP Acquisition which took place during
the last two months during the last financial year, while CAP’s full
year’s performance is consolidated into the Group’s accounts in
the financial year ended 31 March 2021. Moreover, there were
revenue streams brought by butchery business of approximately
HK$77.3 million. Segment result recorded a profit of HK$24.8
million for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Group’s fresh market and agricultural produce exchange
market business has been built over the past two decades.
During the financial year, the Group managed a substantial
portfolio of approximately 800 stalls under the “Allmart” brand and
“Day Day Fresh” brands of fresh markets in Hong Kong with a
GFA of over 200,000 square feet. In order to meet rising customer
expectation, the Group strives to offer a more comfortable and
spacious shopping environment through well-designed layouts,
enhancement works and high quality management services. We
will continue to strengthen the partnership with our tenants and
local communities by launching effective marketing and promotion
events, and thereby improving shopping experiences at our fresh
markets. During the financial year, the Group continued to locate
high population density areas to set up fresh markets and mini
fresh markets.

In February 2021, Wang On Majorluck Limited (the “Operator”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, received
a letter from the Hong Kong Housing Authority indicating its
agreement to lease a tender of proposal in respect of a fresh
market located at G/F, Choi Fook Estate Phase 3, Kowloon, Hong
Kong with an approximate area under the lease of approximately
1,133 square metres to the Operator. The fresh market is now
under renovation and is expected to commence operation in the
third quarter of 2021.

Wang On Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

RO (&)

HEMREEMRIMBEBDE AR EER
THHERE EREBEE-_ZT=-—F=A
=T —BLEFEHSRAEMNL146.3% E 4
654,500,000 7T (Z T =F4F : £9265,700,000
B RARTERERSEEBHPEREMK
BEETHKECEREMRSMBZE2FRA
#7387,600,000/87C * FEIEE KB EREA
RE-—WBREENEEMEAR  mMPBERE®
WEFREGEAREAEBRBE_T-—F
A=+ HALEMBFENRE o I BE
A RFH AR 477,300,000/ 7T ° 948
¥EREBE-_ZT-_—F=A=1+—HILLFEHK
5% 7% 24,800,000 7 7T, ©

AEENETREEMR I MIGEBE KB
B+F  RHBRFERN XEEBEEBEE
(BE|REE[BH«BRR ] RIEHE 4800 E
HHEA A - 421 8 18 200,000 F 77
Ro AmEEEAZRYNEE  AEE%H
NBLEARE EIRREEEERGE
HEFELATCHEHBRBYIRE AEEKE
BHELAERMEHELERSTE  RcEBLA
it @S ERER - Mk SEmAEYE
B REBFER  AEEEESRKNAOR
[ B AT SRR R o

=

—E- 5§ ARANBERANED
ARKREERAT((HEE)) BFEELEE
ZEENEN  ETARELEREEARAE
M ER AR EB AR ESeT
0T 2 RBE  WEEROA1138FFR -
HETH AN EERET - AR T
FE=FEMHEE -



BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Along with the existing fresh market and agricultural produce
exchange market business on a stable footing, the Group had
commenced building a portfolio of self-owned fresh markets in
Hong Kong through joint ventures.

In May 2019 and July 2019, joint ventures participated by the
WOP Group have successfully acquired a retail podium located
at Lake Silver in Ma On Shan and a commercial accommodation
at The Parkside in Tseung Kwan O respectively. The Group has
refurbished part of these properties as fresh markets and taken
up the management of the properties under the brand “Day Day
Fresh”. The fresh markets have been operating since May 2020
and January 2020 respectively. The Group is confident that our
expertise in property investment and fresh market operation shall
deliver strong synergy to create unique business value to fuel
further growth in this segment.

In October 2019, we entered into butchery business by capturing
synergies with our existing fresh market operations. We will
continue to seize suitable opportunities focusing on building
a chain of butchery shops with a strong cash flow and steady
operating profit. For the year ended 31 March 2021, the butchery
business generated revenue of approximately HK$77.3 million
(2020: approximately HK$33.5 million). The increase in revenue is
mainly attributed to the effect of consolidation of this segment’s
full year performance in the Group’s accounts during the current
financial year, since the commencement of the Group’s butchery
business during the second half of the last financial year. We
believe that the demand for pork in local diets, combined with our
well established fresh market network, can allow for rapid growth
and a relatively low-risk development for this new business. Our
target is to continuously expand the butchery stores and optimise
the operation platform of fresh market and butchery business so
as to maximise synergies. As at 31 May 2021, 11 butchery stores
were in operation.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

In Mainland China, the Group operates fresh market business
through its joint venture under the “Huimin” brand in various
districts in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC. The joint
venture currently manages a portfolio of approximately 800
stalls with a GFA of approximately 265,000 square feet, in which
approximately 166,000 square feet are owned by the joint venture.

Following the issuance of urban redevelopment policy by the
Shenzhen Government, some of the fresh markets may be
affected. Nevertheless, there will be negotiations between the local
developers and the fresh markets operators for compensations
as well as swapping locations for continue operations. The Group
will continue to closely monitor the latest development, particularly
the impact on the land use rights of its fresh market properties.

Following the CAP Acquisition, the Group, through CAP, operates
11 agricultural product exchange markets across five provinces in
the PRC. The acquisition of these agricultural product exchange
markets expanded significantly our presence in the fresh market
segment in the PRC. The CAP Group operates various agricultural
produce exchange markets in Hubei Province, Henan, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province and Liaoning
Province of the PRC. The outbreak of the coronavirus significantly
affected the market performance during early 2020 until around
end of April 2020 in particular for these markets in Hubei. As the
pandemic began to be under control in the PRC, the performance
of these markets returned to normal. Apart from this, both the
operating performance and market ranking of our markets
illustrated steady progress.

It is worth noting that Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-
Product Exchange Market (the “Wuhan Baisazhou Market”),
being one of the agricultural operations of the CAP Group, is one
of the largest agricultural produce exchange operators in the PRC.
Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated in the Hongshan District of
Wuhan City, the PRC with a site area of approximately 310,000
square metres and a total GFA of approximately 190,000 square
metres. In 2020, Wuhan Baisazhou Market was awarded top 10
of agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC by China
Agricultural Wholesale Market Association.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the CAP Group
received judgments for the legal disputes related to the Wuhan
Baisazhou Market from the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC
on 29 March 2021 and from the Court of First Instance in the
High Court of Hong Kong on 18 January 2021, respectively.
Both judgments are considered positive to the CAP Group. For
details, please refer to the joint announcements of, inter alia, the
Company and CAP dated 18 January 2021 and 30 March 2021,
and also the Litigation section of the Management Discussion and
Analysis section of this annual report.

As at 31 March 2021, our owned investment properties in Hong
Kong comprised of commercial, industrial and residential units
with a total carrying value of approximately HK$1,057.6 million
(2020: approximately HK$1,058.4 million).

During the financial year, we received gross rental income of
approximately HK$48.7 million (2020: approximately HK$20.6
million).

On 30 March 2021, the WOP Group and an independent third
party (the “Parkville Partner”) formed a new joint venture group
(the “Parkville JV”), in which the WOP Group owned 50%. The
Parkville JV has entered into a preliminary agreement for sale
and purchase on the same date (the “Acquisition”) with an
independent third party in respect of 11 shop units and certain
lift, lift lobby(ies) and staircase(s) on the ground floor and first floor
of The Parkville, No.88 Tuen Mun Heung Sze Wui Road, Tuen
Mun, New Territories for a consideration of HK$300,000,000. On
21 June 2021, the WOP Group and the Parkville Partner entered
into a supplemental binding term sheet with two independent
third parties (the “New Investors”). Subject to the completion
of the Acquisition and bank consent, the shareholdings of the
WOP Group, the Parkville Partner and the New Investors in the
Parkville JV would become 64%, 30% and 6%, respectively.
The Acquisition was completed on 25 June 2021. Details of
the transaction were set out in the joint announcements of the
Company and WOP dated 30 March 2021 and 21 June 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

During the financial year, we continued to dispose of second-hand
residential properties and realised approximately HK$5.2 million
(2020: approximately HK$41.3 million). As at 31 March 2021,
we held 9 second-hand residential properties with valuation of
approximately HK$54.9 million.

WYT Group is a pharmaceutical group focusing on manufacturing
and/or retailing of pharmaceutical and health food products. The
year under review was a challenging year for our pharmaceutical
and health food products segment with revenue totaling
approximately HK$474.7 million (2020: approximately HK$560.1
million), representing a drop of approximately 15.2%. The
continuous COVID-19 pandemic and the related response
measures from the government have inevitably hurt the inbound
tourism, which directly impact on our retail sales, in particular
for those districts where were previously very popular with the
Mainland Chinese tourists.

Total sales of the Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products decreased by approximately 2.3% to approximately
HK$449.0 million (2020: HK$459.8 million). The WYT Group
continued to promote and develop a series of traditional Chinese
medicine (“TCM”) healthcare products for common diseases of
urban people. Stroke prevention supplementation is a fast growth
market in Hong Kong in which “Wai Yuen Tong” has three series
of TCM products to cover the market: namely Angong Niuhuang
Wan, Angong Zaizao Wan and Angong Jiangya Wan. The series
is registered in Hong Kong according to ancient prescriptions
or nationally recognized prescription and its whole production
process is carried out at our Good Manufacturing Practice (“GMP”)
or The Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme (“PIC/S”)
factory in Yuen Long, Hong Kong. In the existing pandemic
situation, Angong Niuhuang Wan is considered as good health
supplement and has become more popular in the market.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The WYT Group targeted better cost efficiency through further
optimisation of its retail sales network and distribution channels.
By the end of the financial year, the WYT Group had 72 retail
outlets in Hong Kong, including professional Chinese medicine
clinics and outlets operate under self-operating and franchise
modes. The number of Chinese medical service affiliated in
our retail outlets has been increased from 43 as at 31 March
2020 to 62 as at 31 March 2021. The WYT Group also had
5 retail outlets in Macao as at 31 March 2021. The enhanced
distribution network helps strengthen the Group’s sales and
brand recognition. A strong network has been laid down for a
sustainable growth in the future.

We have been moving forward to secure trade customers portfolio
that meet our key selection criteria of financial condition and sales
abilities. “Wai Yuen Tong” brand is a reputable household name
established over a century ago. We will continue to promote our
brand value to maintain a leading market position in the Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food product markets.

Apart from focusing on the TCM core businesses, enriching
product mix on our health supplement offerings is also our
primary strategy. During the year, the WYT Group has successfully
launched supplements for pets named “PROVET” which is
Hong Kong’s first-ever pet wellness product. The development
of PROVET line is greatly welcome by the market as our
supplements are manufactured in Hong Kong and made with
Chinese herbs for pets and are tailored to their health needs and
ages.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The WYT Group recognized the importance of networks and sales
channels to the business. Apart from setting up our own e-shop
via website at www.wyteshop.com (A2 588), the WYT Group
participated in the sale channel of other Hong Kong e-business
website and set-up retail outlets in Hong Kong-China cross-
border e-shops, so that the Mainland customers could purchase
our Hong Kong manufactured products directly through these
e-shops. Furthermore, the WYT Group have set-up flagship
stores in major Mainland China e-shops to expand its local sales
in the PRC. The WYT Group is also in the process of exploring
collaboration with casinos, commercial banks and insurance
companies to broaden the customer base in future.

Revenue of the Western pharmaceutical and health food
products decreased by approximately 74.4% to approximately
HK$25.7 million (2020: approximately HK$100.3 million) since
the consumption sentiment remained weak for the financial year
ended 31 March 2021. The WYT Group has two major product
series in this segment, namely “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”.
Madame Pearl’s is our brand for cough syrup while Pearl’s
product series comprises MosquitOut spray, hand cream and
itch-relief products. The two major product series are under this
business segment encountered different challenges during the
financial year. Revenue of “Madame Pearl’s” was affected due to
the COVID-19 pandemic which has significant negative impact
on cough and cold market. The Pearl’s product series faced
severe price competition which has further heightened during the
COVID-19 pandemic. Nevertheless, during the financial year, the
WYT Group placed substantial resources in revamping its Western
pharmaceutical and health care product distribution channels
in order to improve efficiency. The WYT Group targets to supply
“Madame Pearl’s” products to local clinics and aims to cover
more than 400 local private clinics by the end of 2021. Moreover,
the Group will launch more products for these local clinics. More
resources were put on branding aiming to strengthen the brand
loyalty for both “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s” product series.
To comply with Mainland China’s relevant regulations, the WYT
Group has engaged various local industry players to enhance the
market penetration of its upper airway product series under the

“Madame Pearl’s” brand into Mainland China.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

In December 2020, the National Medical Products Administration
had approved the application by the WYT Group, for import into
Mainland China children cough syrup products manufactured
in our Yuen Long factory. We expect an improved demand for
the children cough syrup products in Mainland China for the
upcoming years.

Capitalising on state-of-the-art technology and advanced
equipment of the WYT Group’s Yuen Long factory, the WYT Group
continued to carry out research and development of products for
core medical solution targeting at institutional clients and local
clinics.

The Group maintains a strong financial position. Liquid
investments amounted to approximately HK$1,305.0 million at
31 March 2021, represented a decrease of approximately 18.3%
from the balance of approximately HK$1,597.2 million as at 31
March 2020. The liquid investments represented approximately
60.1% of the debt securities, approximately 12.6% of equity
securities and approximately 27.3% of fund investment.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the equity attributable to owners of the
parent increased by approximately 6.2% to approximately
HK$6,438.1 million (2020: approximately HK$6,061.9 million
(restated)). The Group’s total equity, including the non-controlling
interests, increased to approximately HK$9,969.0 million (2020:
approximately HK$9,683.8 million (restated)) as at 31 March
2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s total assets were approximately
HK$20,445.9 million (2020: approximately HK$19,088.8 million).
Total cash and bank balances held amounted to approximately
HK$1,730.3 million (2020: approximately HK$1,584.0 million) as
at 31 March 2021. The Group also maintained a portfolio of liquid
investments with an aggregate market value of approximately
HK$1,305.0 million (2020: approximately HK$1,597.2 million) as
at 31 March 2021, which is immediately available for use when in
need.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s total debt amounted to
approximately HK$7,172.0 million (2020: approximately
HK$6,205.0 million). The Group’s net debt to equity was
approximately 54.6% (2020: approximately 47.7% (restated)) as
at 31 March 2021.

The net debt to equity ratio is calculated as the net debt divided
by total equity. Net debt is calculated as a total of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, unsecured notes and convertible
notes, less cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, properties under development, properties
held for sale, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and loan receivable with carrying value of approximately
HK$429.0 million, approximately HK$1,956.7 million,
approximately HK$4,892.5 million, approximately HK$1,145.0
million, approximately HK$509.7 million, approximately HK$15.7
million and approximately HK$103.7 million (2020: approximately
HK$449.6 million, approximately HK$2,285.7 million,
approximately HK$3,448.4 million, approximately HK$1,035.5
million, approximately HK$743.3 million, approximately HK$32.2
million and Nil) were pledged to secure the Group’s general
banking facilities.

The Group’s capital commitment as at 31 March 2021 amounted
to approximately HK$829.0 million (2020: approximately
HK$899.3 million) which was mainly attributed to its property
development business. In addition, the Group’s share of joint
ventures’ own capital commitments amounted to approximately
HK$145.0 million (2020: approximately 251.4 million). The Group
has not given guarantee to banks in connection with facilities
granted to its joint ventures as at 31 March 2021 (2020: three joint
ventures up to approximately HK$1,617.6 million and were utilized
to the extent of approximately HK$1,090.5 million).
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group provided guarantees of
approximately HK$56.8 million to customers in favour of certain
banks for the loans provided by the banks to the customers
of the properties sold (2020: approximately HK$63.5 million).
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on
mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the
guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and
penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of
any sales proceeds.

The Group strengthens and improves its financial risk control
on a continual basis and has consistently adopted a prudent
approach in financial management. Financial resources are under
close monitoring to ensure the Group'’s efficient and effective
operation, as well as flexibility to respond to opportunities and
uncertainties. Management of the Group is of the opinion that
the Group’s existing financial structure is healthy and related
resources are sufficient to cater for the Group’s operation needs
in the foreseeable future. The Group operates a central cash
management system. It also prudently invests in liquid investment
in order to obtain a reasonable return while maintain liquidity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

DEBT PROFILE AND FINANCIAL PLANNING

As at 31 March 2021, interest-bearing debt profile of the Group

was analysed as follows:
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BT

31 March 2021

AEEZFEE

31 March 2020

—E-—fF —ECEF
=HA=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

Bank loans repayable BT FHEE ZRITERK
Within one year or on demand —FRFIFEK 3,209,249 2,656,906
In the second year RE—F 1,061,028 1,153,078
In the third to fifth year, inclusive REZFEERF (BEEEMF) 2,090,872 1,473,532
Beyond five years HFEE 217,271 291,523
6,578,420 5,575,039

Other loans repayable ETHFHESCHMER
Within one year or on demand —FRIRENR 60,090 —
In the second year RE—F 202,270 —
In the third to fifth year, inclusive RE=-FEFAF (BIEHEEMF) - 198,970
262,360 198,970

Unsecured Notes (i) ERERZER)
In the third to fifth year, inclusive RE=ZFEZFAF (DEEEMT) 199,348 181,220
Convertible Notes (i) AR SRR (i)

Within one year or on demand —FRIRE K 131,901 —
In the second year NE—F - 249,814
7,172,029 6,205,043
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DEBT PROFILE AND FINANCIAL PLANNING
(continued)

U

CAP has issued unsecured notes with maturity in
September 2024 (the “Unsecured Notes”) which are listed
on the Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional
investors only (Stock code: 5755). As at 31 March 2021
and 31 March 2020, the Unsecured Notes in the principal
amount of HK$290 million remained outstanding.

CAP issued convertible notes with the aggregate principal
amount of HK$500 million on 19 October 2016 which will
mature on 18 October 2021 (the “Convertible Notes”),
which entitle the holders thereof to convert into the ordinary
shares of CAP (“CAP Share(s)”) at a conversion price
of HK$0.4 per CAP Share. During the financial year, no
Convertible Notes were converted into CAP Shares by the
Convertible Notes’ holders and on 9 December 2020, CAP
has partially early redeemed the Convertible Notes in the
principal value of HK$130 million. As at 31 March 2021, the
Convertible Notes with the outstanding principal amount
of HK$134.8 million was in issue and maximum number of
CAP Shares issuable upon exercise of conversion rights is
337,000,000 CAP Shares.

In order to meet the interest-bearing debts, business capital
expenditure and funding needs for, inter alia, replenishment of
the Group’s land bank, enhancing our portfolio of properties
for investment and/or payment of construction costs for the
development of the property development projects, the Group had
from time to time been considering various financing alternatives
including but not limited to equity fund raising, financial institution
borrowings, non-financial institution borrowings, bond issuance,
convertible notes, other debt financial instruments, and disposal
of properties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED T (&)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group held financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) of
approximately HK$843.2 million and approximately HK$461.8
million, respectively:
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A UREAREREFEENRRG

&

R-ZFB-_—F=ZA=1—08 KAEEFERA
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843,200,000 77T &2 47 461,800,000 7T *

As at 31 March 2021 For the year ended 31 March 2021 Fair value/carrying amount
H-§=-% BEog--f
ZR=1-A ZR=t-BLEE LVE/KAE
Percentage to Bond As at Asat
the Group’s  Fair value interest ~ Dividend 31 March 31 March  Investment
Amountheld  netassets  gain/(loss) income ~received 201 2020 cost
i i
{358 0YE i
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fieedE  2EAM (&) WA SHRE  Zt-B =t-B REHX
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
[iF T % Tin TR Tin Tin Tin Tin
FVOC: ROFEIARD2E
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. Equiy ivestment A BARE 74001 % 102008 - 1374 Tt %901 133709
B Bonds B E%
Zhongliang Holdings Group PR AREEARA
Cornpany Limited 1 15,698 % (1,07) 2062 - 165,893 211,076 185,080
China South ity ERNARERLA
Holdings Limited 2 162,289 % 4500 18745 - 162,289 144,728 166,991
Yuzhou Group Holdings ENEEARARA
Co.Ltd. 3 9510 1% 7208 3240 - 92510 38,044 93749
Others Efr 38497 1% 43945 54,600 - 308,497 632,747 304,142
Subtota gt 843,190 8% 156,560 o721 1374 83190 1282656 943671
FURL: ROPETABRY
SHEE:
A Eoity ivestments A RERE 90,684 1% (2631) - 11 90,684 3,783 84,078
B Funds B i
Rockpool Gapial SPC Rockpool Capital SPG
(RCS) ([RCS) 4 132,801 1% 16,686 - - 132,501 175,150 135,642
Others i 219216 % 1920 - 2546 219216 68,249 217,267
C. Bonds (. &% 16,564 0% (552) 201 - 1,564 32,180 16,500
D Others D i 3,664 0% (2,886 - - 3864 6,220 539
Subtotd It 161829 5% (12209 2071 2657 4180 3458 45806
Totd ) 1,306,019 13% 144377 99,283 4030 1305019 1997238 1401740
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(continued)

BANTBEBNT

The principal activities of the securities are as follows:

Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited
(“Zhongliang”) is a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability whose shares are listed
and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Zhongliang and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in property development, property leasing, and providing
property management services and management consulting
services.

China South City Holdings Limited (“China South City”) is
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
whose shares are listed and traded on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. China South City and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in property development,
investment in integrated logistics and trade centers,
residential and commercial ancillary facilities, property
management, development, operations and maintenance
of an E-commerce platform and provision of advertising,
exhibition, logistics and warehousing services, outlet
operations and other services.

Yuzhou Group Holdings Co. Ltd. (“Yuzhou”) is a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and whose shares are listed and trade on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Yuzhou and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in property development. The Company
operates its businesses through five segments. The property
development segment is engaged in the development
and sale of properties. The property investment segment
is engaged in the investment in properties for their rental
income potential and/or for capital appreciation. The
property management segment is engaged in the provision
of property management services. The hotel operation
segment is engaged in the operation of hotels. The others
segment is engaged in other businesses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB WD T ()

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

(continued)

4. On 18 April 2019, the Group executed the subscription
forms in respect of the investment. The target underlying
the investment is 25,000 Class C Shares with an initial net
asset value of US$25 million in a segregated portfolio of
RCS. RCS is a segregated portfolio company incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability,
and is an open-ended investment vehicle. Subject to the
restriction that any single position in the segregated portfolio
shall not exceed 10% of the net asset value of the entire
segregated portfolio, there are no limitations on the markets
or instruments that the segregated portfolio may invest in,
or the percentage of the segregated portfolio’s assets that
may be committed to any region, market or instrument.
Please refer to the joint announcement dated 18 April 2019
published by the Company and WYT for details. In October
2020, the Group redeemed approximately 9,060.13 Class C

Shares of in the segregated portfolio of RCS.

5. Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other
shares listed on the Stock Exchange and other major
stock exchanges. The fair value of each of these shares
represented less than 1.0% of the net assets of the Group

as at 31 March 2021.

6. Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other
bonds and funds, the fair value of each of these bonds and
funds represented less than 1.0% of the net assets of the

Group as at 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has acquired
additional 95 million WYT share at a total consideration
of HK$39.8 million. As at 31 March 2021, the Group held
810,322,940 WYT shares, representing approximately 65.79% of

the WYT shares in issue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E 5w

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
(continued)

In the last financial year on 12 February 2020, the WYT Group
acquired and became the owner of 5,312,395,685 CAP Shares,
representing approximately 53.37% of the CAP Shares in issue
and the WYT Group, together with parties acting in concert with
it, held 7,464,800,866 CAP Shares, representing approximately
75% of the CAP Shares in issue. The CAP Group operates 11
agricultural produce exchange markets across five provinces in
the PRC.

The Group completed the CAP Acquisition on 12 February 2020
(the “Acquisition Date”). In the preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020, the purchase price allocation of the acquisition and
the resulting gain on bargain purchase were determined on a
provisional basis. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group has finalised the fair value assessment of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the CAP Group (the “Finalised
Assessment”) as of the Acquisition Date.

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural
By-Product Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou
Agricultural”) from independent third parties, Ms. Wang Xiu Qun
(“Ms. Wang”) and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial
Development Co., Ltd (“Tian Jiu”) for their respective 70%
and 20% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Baisazhou
Acquisition”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E 5w

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
(continued)

On 18 January 2021, the Court of First Instance in the High Court
of Hong Kong (“CFI”) handed down a judgement in respect of the
Baisazhou Acquisition, pursuant to which CAP is not required to
make any payment under the instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian
Jiu. The trials in the CFl were completed before the Acquisition
Date, and the judgement was handed down within one year
from the Acquisition Date, which is within the measurement
period. As such, on completion of the fair value assessments,
retrospective adjustments were made to the provisional amounts
related to identifiable liabilities of the CAP Group recognised as
of the Acquisition Date. Consequently, the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flow for the year ended 31
March 2020, and certain explanatory notes have been restated to
reflect these restatements. For details of the financial effects of the
above, please refer to note 4 to financial statements of this annual
report.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
(continued)

On 4 May 2020, Caister Limited (“Caister”), a company wholly-
owned by the Company’s chairman and controlling shareholder,
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, requested the board of Easy One (an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability, the shares of which
were formerly listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (the then stock code: 221)) to put forward a proposal
to other shareholders of Easy One for the privatisation of Easy
One (the “Proposal”) by way of a scheme of arrangement (the
“Scheme”) under Section 99 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (the “Companies Act”).

Pursuant to the Proposal, all the ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each in Easy One (the “Scheme Shares”) were cancelled in
exchange for the consideration comprising the cash consideration
of HK$0.3 per Scheme Share and the consideration shares on
the basis of eight (8) ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each of the
Company as held by Caister, for each Scheme Share (collectively,
the “Consideration”). The Proposal, upon implementation,
constituted a discloseable and connected transaction for the
Company under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

On 26 August 2020, at the respective special general meetings
of the Company and WYT, the independent shareholders of the
Company and WYT have respectively approved the Proposal
and the disposal of the Scheme Shares held by WYT Group
in exchange for the Consideration. On 8 September 2020, the
resolution proposed at the meeting of the shareholders of the
Scheme Shares (the “Scheme Shareholders”) to approve the
Scheme was duly passed by the Scheme Shareholders. On 17
September 2020, the Scheme was sanctioned by the Supreme
Court of Bermuda without modification. The Scheme eventually
became effective on 16 October 2020 when all the conditions to
the implementation of the Proposal were fulfilled.

FFEARE EAWEBERHENBLQ
8 UREARENELFEERARKET
& (&)

MRZZTZZTHF A A M A - Caister Limited
([Caister]) (AR 7 E fEF# TR EIF A %
E2EREANRR)BERSHE(—RXHAS
HEIMKIIYNEREFECEREERA
A HRMDERBRIAER LETREE (HER
RGHRSE : 221)) EE 2R HHSHEMRELR
& URBERE-NAN—FREE(2A

BIE]) F IR A B ([FH 8 D T AK 5
ZFENEE(T#ZE]) -
RIFEZ  ZHETFEREEONETHER

P ([EH8IBRAD ) O w AR BGGESH - DARER(E -
BEAESNE (REREEIRD 0.3 THE) &
REBD RERET S HEES “Ceuster?—rﬁ )
JAN (8) HTXLHXETEO.CN /%KE"]ZIS El HX(HJL
i H%FJ)Z%;EV”) ° *%ﬁﬂﬁ EEBK
T AR BB AT RE %LW%EE'J(H:F‘HEEUJ)
IE\TE’J/A%?BZE%&%

E@ T_TFENAZFTAA RARRRATT

EEENRRFIAG L KRG RATED
BYRRE DRI ERZ R EMN T ESEA
F2atEliRG - BB E R ZZTFh
ANB - RErEIRRGOIRE (T5HE8IRR]) KAg L
RENABETEAZRREEAEIRRER
HE - RZE-_TFHA ‘f’tEl éJriWéﬁﬁ
ERxm ARAE - BWEEET - srEIRKER S
T-TF+ A+ NBEMER Zﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ’-ﬂé
PXERF AR ©

“EC-FFR RREEERA

-
)

41



42

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
(continued)

Details of the Easy One privatisation were set out in the joint
announcements published by the Company, WYT, Easy One
and Caister dated 4 May 2020; the scheme document dated 12
August 2020 jointly issued by Easy One and Caister in relation to
the Proposal and the Scheme; the circulars of the Company and
WYT dated 24 July 2020 respectively and their respective poll
results announcements dated 26 August 2020 in respect of the
disposal of the entire shareholdings in Easy One of the Company
and WYT; the respective joint announcements of Easy One
and Caister dated 8 September 2020, 18 September 2020, 12
October 2020 and 16 October 2020.

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2021, on 18
June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP and a substantial
shareholder (the “PRC Shareholder”) of EMZE#EE
SIESHETISER AT (Yulin Hongjin Agricultural
By-products Wholesale Marketplace Limited (“Yulin Hongjin”))
entered into an agreement in relation to the reduction of registered
capital contribution of Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin. Pursuant
to the agreement, the PRC Shareholder waived its entitlement to
the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin for the financial year ended
31 December 2020 in the amount of approximately RMB117
million and directed the same to be paid to Century Choice, and
the amount of registered capital contribution by Century Choice in
Yulin Hongjin was reduced by an amount equal to approximately
RMB41.9 million. As a result of such reduction of registered
capital contribution, the CAP Group’s equity interest in Yulin
Hongjin was decreased from 65% to 51%. Details of the capital
reduction were disclosed in the joint announcement published by,
inter alia, the Company dated 18 June 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E 5w

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
(continued)

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2021, on 23 April
2021, Mailful Investments Limited (the “Subscriber”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a subscription agreement with ZWC Fund Il General Partners
Limited (the “General Partner”) and ZWC Fund Il L.P., a Cayman
Islands exempted company (the “Fund”), pursuant to which the
Subscriber agreed to subscribe for a limited partnership interest
in the Fund at a total capital contribution of US$10 million (the
“Capital Contribution”). The Capital Contribution will be paid
in instalments upon receipt of written notice from the General
Partner from time to time to provide funds for payment for the
Fund’s investments, expenses, liabilities and reserves. Details
of the transaction were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 23 April 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report,
the Group has no future plan for material investments or capital
assets.

LITIGATION

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Baisazhou Agricultural from
independent third parties, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for their
respective 70% and 20% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural.

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of
civil proceedings in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil
proceedings in Mainland China and Hong Kong in respect of the
Baisazhou Acquisition are set out below:
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LITIGATION (continued)

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced proceedings
against the PRC Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM?”) in the
Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court, seeking, inter alia,
a direction that MOFCOM revoke its approval in respect of the
Baisazhou Acquisition.

It is alleged by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu that:

a)

Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements
(the “Contended Agreements”) in relation to the
Baisazhou Acquisition wherein the related consideration
was understated and the manner of settlement of the
consideration was inaccurately described;

Baishazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation
for filing with the MOFCOM and the Hubei Administration For
Industry and Commerce (the “Hubei AIC”), and that such
documentation and the Contended Agreements involved
forged signatures; and

MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou
Acquisition and processed the related fillings on the basis of
the above documents that are allegedly forged.

In December 2015, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s
Court directed MOFCOM to reconsider its approval decision. In
May 2016, MOFCOM decided that its approval issued in relation
to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and shall
remain to be in force (the “Reconsidered Decision”).
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LITIGATION (continued)

In August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced
administrative proceedings against MOFCOM in the Beijing
Second Intermediate People’s Court seeking to set aside the
Reconsidered Decision. In March 2017, the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court dismissed the application of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu (“31 March Judgment”). On 20 December
2018, the Beijing Higher People’s Court upheld the 31 March
Judgment (“20 December Judgment”), Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu applied to the Supreme People’s Court for a retrial and for
dismissal of (i) the 31 March Judgment, and (i) the 20 December
Judgment, but this application was dismissed by the Supreme
People’s Court on 29 December 2020.

As advised by CAP’s PRC legal advisor, the approval issued by
MOFCOM in 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreements shall
not be revoked and remain to be in force, and the CAP Group
continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou
Agricultural.

In May 2015, CAP commenced legal proceedings against Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu in the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province
(“Hubei Court”) seeking, inter alia, declarations and orders that
the sales and purchase agreements for the Baisazhou Acquisition
(the “SPA”) have been legally made, and that Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge its contractual
duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with MOFCOM
(which were subsequently withdrawn in April 2019 in light of
the decisions in respect of the MOFCOM approvals). Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu filed their counterclaim for, inter alia, the return of
the CAP’s 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural, which was
dismissed by the Hubei Court in December 2019 (“23 December
Judgment”).
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LITIGATION (continued)

In January 2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the
23 December Judgment. On 29 March 2021, the CAP Group
received the judgment of the Supreme Court dated 29 December
2020 (the “29 December Judgment”) which upheld the 23
December Judgment and dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu. As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the CAP Group,
according to the 23 December Judgment and the 29 December
Judgment, the CAP Group continues to be the legal and beneficial
owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the CFl against Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu. CAP (as purchaser) sought damages from
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of various
provisions of the SPA. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu counterclaimed for,
amongst others, an order that CAP do cause and/or procure the
shares in Baisazhou Agricultural to be transferred back to Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu.

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the CFl to the effect
that undertakings (the “Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu not to (i) indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the
two instruments (purportedly described as promissory notes
in the SPA) (the “Instruments”); and (ii) enforce payment in
relation to the SPA by presentation of the Instruments until the
final determination of these proceedings or further court order.
Pursuant to the Undertakings, the Instruments will no longer fall
due for payment by CAP on 5 December 2012.
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LITIGATION (continued)

The CFl handed down its judgment on 18 January 2021
awarding damages in favour of CAP for sum exceeding the
sum owed under the Instruments. The CFl also ordered that the
damages awarded to CAP be set-off by the sum owed under the
Instruments, and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not be allowed to
enforce the Instruments against CAP. In effect, CAP is not required
to make any payment under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian
Jiu. CAP is seeking legal advice for the recovery of the balance of
the damages awarded to it. Further, as the counterclaim of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed, CAP continues to be the legal
and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

Further details regarding the civil proceedings which the CAP
Group has been involved in can be found in the interim/annual
reports and announcements issued by CAP.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Management of the Group is of the opinion that the Group has
no material foreign exchange exposure and therefore, the Group
does not engage in any hedging activities. The revenue of the
Group, also being mostly denominated in Renminbi and Hong
Kong dollar, matches the currency requirements of the Group’s
operating expenses.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 2,102 (2020:2,037)
employees, of whom approximately 41% (2020: approximately
38%) were located in Hong Kong and the rest were located in
Mainland China. The Group remunerates its employees mainly
based on industry practices and individual performance and
experience. On top of the regular remuneration, discretionary
bonus and share options may be granted to selected staff by
reference to the Group’s as well as individual’s performances.
The Group also provides a defined contribution to the Mandatory
Provident Fund as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
all eligible employees in Hong Kong and retirement contributions
in accordance with the statutory requirements for our staff in the
PRC. The Group had launched a defined scheme of remuneration
and promotion review to accommodate the above purpose
and such review is normally carried out annually. Other forms of
benefits such as medical and retirement benefits and structured
training programs are also provided.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the principal risks and uncertainties
which may affect its businesses, financial condition, operations
and prospects based on its risk management system and
considered that the major risks and uncertainties that may affect
the Group included (i) Hong Kong economic conditions which
may directly affect the property market; (i) availability of suitable
land bank for future development; (iii) the continuous escalation of
construction cost in Hong Kong in recent years; (iv) business cycle
for property under development may be influenced by a number
of factors and the Group’s revenue will be directly affected by the
mix of properties available for sale and delivery; (v) all construction
works were outsourced to independent third parties and they may
fail to provide satisfactory services adhering to our quality and
safety standards or within the timeline required by the Group; (vi)
fluctuations of fair value gain or loss incurred on financial assets
and investment properties; (vii) credit risk and recoverability of
provision of loans which may incur bad debts during the downturn
of economy; (viii) loss of management contracts for fresh markets
which may arise in light of severe competition with existing market
players and entry of new participants into the market; (ix) industrial
policy risk and supply chain disruption for pharmaceutical
business; and (x) internet risk; moreover, following the acquisition
of CAP by the WYT Group since the last financial year, further risks
and uncertainties have been identified including (xi) fluctuation in
the exchange rate of Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars which
may affect the repatriation of profit and/or additions of investment
when converting currencies, and (xii) industrial policy risk for
development, construction, operations and acquisition of agri-
produce exchange markets.

In response to the abovementioned possible risks, the Group has
a series of internal control and risk management policies to cope
with the possible risks and has serious scrutiny over the selection
of quality customers and suppliers. The Group has formed
various committees to develop and review strategies, policies and
guidelines on risk control which enable the Group to monitor and
response to risk effectively and promptly. The Group also actively
proposes solutions to lower the impact of the possible risks on
the businesses of the Group.
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PROSPECTS

We believe 2021 will be a year with challenges and opportunities.
Hong Kong economy is still on its way to recovery, the real GDP
is resuming appreciable year-on-year growth of 7.9% in the first
quarter of 2021, led by very strong growth of exports of goods.
Moreover, the reduction in unemployment rate from January to
March 2021 to 6.8% showed signs of recovery for the economy of
Hong Kong. The Hong Kong Government has launched the free
vaccination programme which is expected to help mitigate the
COVID-19 pandemic situation and is expected to be conducive
to the recovery of the local economy. Nevertheless, the economic
recovery was uneven and overall economic activity remained
below the pre-recession level, as the pandemic, social distancing
requirements and travel restrictions continued to weigh on certain
economic segments. We believe that the performance of various
segments of the Group will gradually be restored in different
paces.

In respect of the property development segment in Hong Kong,
the low interest rate environment and concrete demands on
residential properties will continue to benefit the Hong Kong
economy especially the residential property sector, which
is expected to remain resilient over the long term. With the
upmost opening of the pre-sales of The Met. Azure, the growth
momentum and branding of the Group shall be escalated.

The Group will continue to monitor the market changes closely
whilst keep looking for opportunities in property acquisition and
collaboration with strategic partners to strengthen the real estate
business.

The fresh market operations have been a cash flow generating
and profitable business over the past decades. The fresh
market segment continues to grow steadily in Hong Kong and
is expected to provide stable recurring income and cash flow
to the Group. The Group considers delivery services for fresh
market products will be another opportunity to expand our
business and will devote more resources in developing this area.
Moreover, the Group expects to expand its fresh market portfolio
by collaborating with landlords and identifying opportunities to
acquire additional fresh markets in both public and private sectors
in Hong Kong to strengthen its recurring income.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

Moreover, following the acquisition of CAP through the WYT
Group in the last financial year, the Group, through CAP, now
operates 11 agricultural produce exchange markets across five
provinces in the PRC. Such acquisition has significantly expanded
the Group’s presence in the fresh market segment and the
property development segment in the PRC. Looking ahead, the
Group will continue to build a nationwide agricultural produce
exchange network by leveraging its leading position in the industry,
replicable business model, advanced management system
and IT infrastructure and quality customer service. Agricultural
development is expected to remain one of the main development
focuses of the PRC government in the next few years, and major
growth in the agriculture sector is expected to be driven by the
“Belt and Road Initiative”. The Group will continue to capture new
business opportunities by cooperating with partners to adopt an
“asset light” approach. Given the Group’s leading position on the
market and dynamic business model, the Group is confident that
it will deliver long-term benefits to the Group.

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19, all of our agricultural produce
exchange markets have upgraded the facilities and fixtures to
keep up with the raising strict health and hygiene measures of the
local governments.

“Wai Yuen Tong”, a reputable pharmaceutical household
brand, was established over a century ago. Subsequent to the
outbreak of COVID-19, we believe that TCM plays an increasingly
significant role in the fight against this global epidemic. Prevention
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PROSPECTS (continued)

comes before cure and consumer health awareness will be
increased. Moreover, decrease in mainland tourist visits and rigid
industry policies may continue to curtail and negatively impact
retail performance. Nevertheless, as the epidemic situation was
largely under control with the successful development and launch
of the free vaccination programme, the recovery of the Mainland
China economy also rendered support to our performance, the
overall economic situation showed signs of stabilization gradually.
The Group will continue to closely monitor the performance of its
distribution channels and retail network.

In order to maintain the WYT Group’s competitive advantage, it will
strategically restructure, integrate retail outlets and build a team
of experienced and well-trained Chinese medicine practitioners to
serve its customers. The Group’s ambition is to build one of the
largest teams of Chinese medicine practitioners in Hong Kong
through WYT. The Group intends to leverage its brand value to
strengthen its partnerships and boost its franchising model to
maximise its retail exposure and lower overall operational risk and
costs.

With Hong Kong and Chinese government’s active push for
TCM, including preferential policies and cross-border cooperation
between Hong Kong and the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau-
Greater Bay Area, the market for Chinese pharmaceutical
medication and supplements manufactured in Hong Kong is set to
expand rapidly in the next decade. Further, the Group’s Western
pharmaceutical business is expected to achieve favourable
growth driven by the sale of cough syrup to private clinics in Hong
Kong and the PRC, in particular, we believe that the demand for
our branded “Made in Hong Kong” children cough syrup products
will increase following approval from National Medical Products
Administrative for import of such product into the Mainland China
from our factory in Yuen Long.

In summary, the overall strong financial position of the Group and
the expected continued growth through its diversified business
enable the Group to have a high degree of flexibility and agility
for its treasury management. We will continue a proactive and
prudent investment approach to drive business growth on all
business segments.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEEREREEE

The Directors and senior management as at the date of this report
are as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, JP, aged 59, is a co-founder of the
Group, which was established in 1987, and the Chairman of
the Company since November 1993. He is also an authorised
representative and a member of the remuneration committee,
and the chairperson of the executive committee, the nomination
committee and the investment committee of the Company. He is
responsible for the strategic planning, policy making and business
development of the Group. He has extensive experience in
corporate management. He is also the chairman and managing
director of WYT and the chairman and the non-executive director
of CAP. Mr. Tang is the committee member of the 12th and 13th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC”) and is also appointed as a standing
committee member and convener of the 10th to 12th plenary
sessions of the CPPCC Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Committee. Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first executive
chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong
Shenzhen Association. He is the husband of Ms. Yau Yuk Yin,
the Deputy Chairman of the Company and the father of both Mr.
Tang Ho Hong (i.e. the spouse of Ms. Stephanie, an executive
Director) and Ms. Tang Wai Man, both the senior management of
the Company.

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, aged 59, is a co-founder of the Group and the
Deputy Chairman of the Company since November 1993. She is
also a member of the remuneration committee, the nomination
committee and the executive committee of the Company. Ms. Yau
is responsible for the overall human resources and administration
of the Group. She has over 28 years of extensive experience in
human resources and administration management. Ms. Yau is
the wife of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman of the Company,
and the mother of both Mr. Tang Ho Hong (i.e. the spouse of Ms.
Stephanie, an executive Director) and Ms. Tang Wai Man, both the
senior management of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. Stephanie, aged 34, rejoined the Group in 2020 and
is currently the Chief Executive Officer — Financial Services.
She is also a member of the executive committee, the
nomination committee and the investment committee of
the Company. She obtained a Bachelor Degree in Finance
and Marketing from The University of Washington, USA.
Ms. Stephanie has extensive experience in accounting and
corporate finance. She is a director of Easy One Financial
Group Limited (“Easy One”, the shares of which were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and its privatisation
proposed by Caister by way of a scheme of arrangement
became effective on 16 October 2020), and also a director of
certain subsidiaries of Easy One. Prior to re-joining the Group,
Ms. Stephanie worked in the financing and accounting field for
more than 10 years, including in a multinational corporation
where she oversaw financing and accounting matters and
an international accountancy firm where she participated in
numerous merger and acquisition projects. Ms. Stephanie
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Ms. Stephanie is the spouse of Mr. Tang Ho Hong, a son of
Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (both Mr. Tang and
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin are the executive Directors and controlling
shareholders of the Company). Mr. Tang Ho Hong is a senior
management of the Company. Ms. Stephanie is the sister-in-law
of Ms. Tang Wai Man, a senior management of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, BBS, MBE, JP, aged 67, joined the
Group in November 1993 as an independent non-executive
Director. He is a member of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the Company and the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Wong holds a
bachelor’s degree in Commerce and Computing Science from
Simon Fraser University, Canada. He is a Fellow of Institute
of Canadian Bankers. He was a member of the Fight Crime
Committee, the Independent Police Complaints Council, the
Legal Aid Services Council, chairman of Quality Education Fund
Assessment and Monitoring Committee, a member of Solicitors
Disciplinary Tribunal Panel, a member of Council on Professional
Conduct in Education. He is exofficial member of New Territories
Heung Yee Kuk and is currently a member of other government
advisory bodies.

Mr. Siu Kam Chau, aged 56, joined the Group in September
2004 as an independent non-executive Director. He is the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company, a member of
the nomination committee, the remuneration committee and the
investment committee of the Company. Mr. Siu holds a Bachelor
degree in Accountancy from The City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Siu is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Siu has over 30 years of working experience in auditing,
accounting, company secretarial and corporate finance. He
is currently an independent non-executive director of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited, shares of which
are listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
He was an executive director of Power Financial Group Limited,
shares of which are listed and traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, for the period from April 2020 to June 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chan Yung, BBS, JP, aged 51, joined the Group in August
2020 as independent non-executive Director. He is also a
member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. He is a registered
social worker and the chairman of New Territories Association of
Societies. He is also a director of New Territories Association of
Societies (Community Services) Foundation since 2002. Mr. Chan
has various public appointments including Hong Kong Deputy
to the 12th and 13th National People’s Congress of the People’s
Republic of China and a vice-chairman of Democratic Alliance
for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan holds
a Bachelor’s Degree from City University of Hong Kong, a Post-
graduate Diploma of Politics and Public Administration from
Tsinghua University and a Master’s Degree in Law and Public
Affairs from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan was
appointed as a Justice of Peace by the HKSAR Government in
2011 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2014. Mr. Chan is
an independent non-executive director of GET Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8100), shares of which are listed and traded on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tang Ho Hong joined the Group in January 2011 and
has been appointed as an executive director of WOP since
December 2015 in the course of the spin-off. He is the chief
executive officer of WOP and is primarily responsible for the
overall management and supervision of operations of the WOP
Group, including overseeing property sales and leasing, asset
management and investment, and strategic planning on long
and short term development. Mr. Tang has over ten years of
experience in property and land matters. Prior to joining WOP,
Mr. Tang worked with the property division of the Group where
he focused on property acquisition in Hong Kong and acquired
his experience in the property development, management and
investment businesses. Mr. Tang graduated from The University
of Washington with a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Business
Administration. Mr. Tang is a member of the Henan Provincial
Committee of the CPPCC. He is the son of Mr. Tang Ching
Ho and Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (both the controlling shareholders of
the Company) and the spouse of Ms. Stephanie (an executive
Director), all are the executive directors of the Company, and
a brother of Ms. Tang Wai Man, a senior management of the
Company.

Mr. Yeung Yiu Man joined the Group in March 2011 and was in
charge of the Group’s quantity surveying division. Since the spin-
off of Group’s property investment and development business
under separate listing of WOP, he has been appointed as the
director of the quantity surveying division of the Group and is
responsible for managing various property developments of
the Group and has overall responsibility for all aspects of cost
and quality control of construction works. Mr. Yeung obtained
a degree of Master of Science in Management from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He was admitted as a member
of the Chartered Institute of Building in May 1992 and elected
as a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors in
November 2008. He possesses a wide spectrum of experience
in the property industry and has been active in property
developments for more than 35 years, in which 11 years was
gained from a major Hong Kong listed property developer, prior to
joining WOP.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Ms. Tang Wai Man joined the Group in 2014 and has been
appointed as an executive director of WYT since April 2018. Ms.
Tang is responsible for strategic sales and marketing, channel
sales and retail operation in Hong Kong and Macau of the WYT
Group. She graduated from University of Edinburgh, UK with a
Master of Arts with Honors in Business Studies. Prior to joining
the WYT Group, she has worked for the Company as an assistant
to the Chairman of the Company and gained other experience in
financial analysis, sales and marketing and business development
in a number of corporate bodies in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom. Ms. Tang is also a director of most of the subsidiaries of
WYT. She is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Yau Yuk
Yin, the executive Directors, sister of Mr. Tang Ho Hong, a senior
management of the Company and sister-in-law of Ms. Stephanie,
an executive Director.

Mr. Lau Kin Shing, Chris joined the Group in January 2021
as the Group Chief Financial Officer. He is responsible for
the strategic planning, financial management and control,
accounting, investor relations and corporate services of the
Group. Mr. Lau has over 30 years of solid finance management
experience gained in multinationals in Asia Pacific, Greater China
and the US. He also brings a wealth of experience to this role
with managing start-ups, post-merger/acquisition integration,
business process improvement and Enterprise Resource Planning
system implementation in addition to Treasury, Tax and Credit
management. Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor Degree of Economics
from the Australian National University and a Graduate Diploma
in Computing Studies from the University of Canberra. He is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow of CPA Australia.

Mr. Lam Wai Fung, Dominic joined the Group in December
2019 and was appointed as the financial controller of the
Company. Mr. Lam obtained a Bachelor of Arts Degree in
Accountancy in the City University of Hong Kong and is a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a chartered financial analyst of the CFA Institute
and a certified financial risk manager of the Global Association of
Risk Professionals. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lam worked
for an international accounting firm in Hong Kong for over seven
years for assurance and business advisory services and has been
worked in various listed companies for over 10 years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Chiu Ming Ho joined the Group in November 2020. He is the
Chief Operating Officer — Financial Services of the Company. Mr.
Chiu holds a Master’s Degree in Investment Management and a
Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration (Accounting) from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology respectively.
He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chiu has worked in a number
of international banks, multinational financial companies and well-
known accounting firms. He has extensive experience in banking,
investment, accounting and auditing.

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus joined the Company in February
2021 as the Group Company Secretary and is a fellow member
of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
The Chartered Governance Institute. He holds a Master Degree
of Professional Accounting, a Master Degree of Corporate
Governance, a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Bachelor Degree
of Arts in Translation. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung
held company secretary positions in several Hong Kong listed
companies, including CAP (stock code: 149), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
DREREE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance within a sensible framework with
a strong emphasis on transparency, accountability, integrity
and independence. The Board believes that good corporate
governance practices are fundamental and essential to the
success of the Company and the enhancement and promotion of
the Shareholders and other stakeholders’ value.

The Company continued to take steps to apply the principles and
comply with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
during the year under review. The Board has reviewed periodically
the compliance of the CG Code and is of the view that throughout
the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company had complied with
the code provisions of the CG Code, except for the following
deviation:

Code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code provides that the
nomination committee should comprise a majority of independent
non-executive directors and be chaired by the chairman of the
board or an independent non-executive director. During the year
under review, the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) did not have majority of independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”, each an “INED”) and be
chaired by the chairman of the board or an INED immediately
after the decease of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, the late INED, on
15 May 2020, who was the then chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company, the Nomination Committee did not
comprise majority of INEDs, which deviated from the requirement
of code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Chan Yung was
appointed by the Board as an INED and a member of the
Nomination Committee and Mr. Tang Ching Ho was elected as
the chairman of the Nomination Committee both with effect from
3 August 2020. Afterwards, the Nomination Committee is chaired
by the chairman of the Board pursuant to code provision A.5.1
of the CG Code. Coupled with the recent change in composition
of the Nomination Committee, the Board reviews and monitors
any deviation to ensure the maximisation of the benefit of the
Stakeholders of the Company, though the remaining members
of the Nomination Committee have extensive experience in
different aspects in the industry of the Group to make a right
recommendation and nominate right candidate to the right
position to lead to the success of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(continued)

Immediately after the decease of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, the
late INED, on 15 May 2020, who was a member of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the
Company, the Audit Committee had only two members and the
Remuneration Committee did not comprise majority of INEDs.
Mr. Chan Yung was appointed as an INED and a member of
each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
as to maintain: (i) at least three INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.10(1)
of the Listing Rules; (i) @ minimum of three members in the Audit
Committee pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; and (i) a
majority of INEDs in the Remuneration Committee pursuant to
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules with effect from 3 August 2020.

Details of the above deviations are set out below in the sections
headed under “Audit Committee”, “Nomination Committee” and
“Remuneration Committee”.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from time
to time, (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following a specific
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year
under review.

The Company also adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions on no less exacting terms than the Model
Code by the relevant employees of the Group who are considered
likely to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive
information in relation to the Company or its securities pursuant to
code provision A.6.4 of the CG Code. To the best knowledge and
belief of the Directors, all relevant employees have complied with
the required standard of such code.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy adopted by the Company in November 2018
is intended to be prudent and sustainable, and will be evaluated
from time to time. There is no assurance that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount for any particular period. Subject
to compliance with applicable rules and regulations, the Board
may, at its discretion, determine the declaration of payment of
dividend(s) to the Shareholders in any amount, frequency in any
financial year depending on, among other things, the Company’s
operation and financial performance, liquidity condition, capital
requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate.

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
development, property investment, management and sub-
licensing of fresh markets and agricultural produce exchange
markets, the manufacturing and/or retailing of pharmaceutical
and health food products and treasury management. The Group’s
strategy for generating and preserving shareholder’s value in
the long run is to invest prudently in projects and opportunities
for maximising return to Shareholders. With respect to property
development, the Group actively explores opportunities and
increases its land portfolio which forms the basis for generating
gain in the property development. To cope with the dynamic
and uncertain market conditions, the Group mainly focuses
on projects with shorter development cycle in order to provide
greater turnover cycle, flexibility, addition of value and reduction of
business risk. On the other hand, the Group continues to maintain
a balanced portfolio of property investments, regularly review
its tenant mix, with an aim to maximise rental yield and secure
a stable stream of income to support the recurring operations
of the Group. Management and sub-licensing of fresh markets
provides another stable source of income stream to the Group,
the Group continues to devote resources to enhance the facilities
and image of existing markets to increase rental yield. The Group
continues to expand its presence in the fresh market segment in
the PRC and to build a nationwide agricultural produce exchange
network by leveraging its leading position in the industry,
replicable business model, advanced management system and [T
infrastructure and quality customer service. Our pharmaceutical
and health food business focus primarily on the manufacturing,
marketing and sales of the pharmaceutical and health food
products in Hong Kong and the PRC. Overall, the Group adopts
a proactive approach in developing its business and exploring to
capture new business opportunities by cooperating with partners
to adopt an ‘asset light’ approach.
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BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY (continued)

In short-term, the Group continuously reviews and updates its
strategies to provide better clarity on direction and business
models. The Group takes active and prompt measures to meet
market changes through adjustment of business strategy and
control over costs. Further, the Group strives to maintain a
healthy financing structure and devotes effort to securing banking
facilities which is regarded as an important element for supporting
continuous business development of the Group.

THE BOARD

The Board currently has six Directors comprising three executive
Directors and three INEDs. During the year under review and up
to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, &Bs, up (Chairman)

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas (Managing Director)
(Resigned on 8 February 2021)

Ms. Stephanie (Appointed on 8 February 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, B88s, MBE, JP
Mr. Siu Kam Chau
Mr. Chan Yung, 8BS, JP (appointed on 3 August 2020)

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is the spouse of Mr. Tang Ching Ho and
Ms. Stephanie is the daughter-in-law of Mr. Tang Ching Ho and
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin. The biographical details of all Directors are set
out on pages 53 to 56 of this annual report.
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THE BOARD (continued)

The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience
which are appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings
facilitate the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. During the year under review (except the period from
15 May 2020 (the decease of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen) to 3 August
2020 (the appointment date of Mr. Chan Yung as an INED)), the
Board has three INEDs, comprising Mr. Wong Chun, Justein,
Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Chan Yung, representing more than
one-third of the Board, and at least one of the INEDs has the
appropriate professional qualification and/or accounting and audit
experience expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive
and non-executive Directors also generates a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows for an independent and
objective decision making process for the best interests of the
Company and its Shareholders. All Directors are aware of the
required levels of fiduciary duties, care, skill and diligence under
Rule 3.08 of the Listing Rules.

Immediately after the decease of Dr. Lee on 15 May 2020, the
Company deviated from Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules which
requires the Company to have at least three INEDs until Mr. Chan
Yung was appointed by the Board as an INED on 3 August 2020.

In compliance with code provision A.3.2 of the CG Code, an
updated list of the Directors identifying their role and function are
available on the websites of the Company (www.wangon.com)
and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Company will review
the composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that the
Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills
and experience to meet the needs of the Group’s business and to
enhance the Shareholders’ value.
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THE BOARD (continued)

The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities
and performance of the Group and its primary functions cover,
among other things, the formulation of overall strategy, the
review corporate and financial policies and the oversight of the
management of the Group’s business and affairs. Apart from
these, the Board reserved for its consideration and decision on
major acquisition and disposals, review of interim and annual
financial results, appointments and removals of directors and
auditor, evaluation on the performance and compensation of
senior management, any material capital transactions and other
significant operational and financial affairs. With a review to
maintaining an appropriate balance of authority and responsibility,
such functions are either carried out directly by the Board or
indirectly through various committees established by the Board,
with respective functions set out in their terms of reference.

The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not
involved in the day-to-day management of the Group. The general
management and day-to-day management are delegated to
management, including but not limited to the preparation of
regular financial information, execution of designated assignments,
and implementation of sustainability practices.

The Directors having material interest in the matter shall abstain
from voting at such Board meeting and the INEDs with no conflict
of interest shall attend at such meeting to deal with the matters.

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to
discharge their responsibilities to the affairs of the Company
and the Directors have disclosed to the Company the identity
and nature of offices held in any public organisation and other
significant commitments on an annual basis.
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THE BOARD (continued)

During the year, regular Board meetings of the Company were
held four times to review, consider and approve, among others,
annual and interim results and to review the business operations,
corporate governance and the effectiveness of internal control
systems and risk management of the Group. Apart from these
regular meetings, Board meetings are also held, as and when
necessary, to consider major transactions. At least 14 days’ notice
for each regular meeting is given to all Directors. All such minutes
are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director. Apart from the regular Board meetings and pursuant to
code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman also met with
the INEDs without the presence of executive Directors during the
year.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are separate to reinforce their respective independence and
accountability. Their respective responsibilities were clearly
segregated and defined in writing by the Board, the chairman
of the Company is primarily responsible for the overall strategic
planning, management and leadership of the Board and ensuring
all Directors receive accurate and timely information, while the
functions of the Managing Director are responsible for the day-to-
day business management and implementation of the business
strategies adopted by the Board. The Chairman is Mr. Tang
Ching Ho and the Company has no Managing Director after the
resignation of the former Managing Director of the Company, Mr.
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas with effect from 8 February 2021. Day-
to-day business operation of the Group is delegated to various
experienced management of the Group.
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THE BOARD (continued)

All INEDs are appointed with specific term set out under
respective letters of appointment and all of them are subject to
retirement by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meetings in accordance with
the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)”). All INEDs are
appointed for a term of not more than three years. Pursuant to
code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code and the Bye-law 87 of
the Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if
their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) are required to retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director, including those appointed
for a specific term, is subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years, and shall be eligible for re-election at
each annual general meeting. In addition, the Directors who are
appointed by the Board to fill casual vacancies or as an addition
to the existing Board are subject to re-election at the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment.

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their
appointment on an annual basis. The Company has received
from each of the existing INEDs, comprising Mr. Wong Chun,
Justein and Mr. Siu Kam Chau, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31 March 2021 and Mr. Chan Yung, who was
appointed by the Board on 3 August 2020, a confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the
period from 3 August 2020 to 31 March 2021. The INEDs would
not participate in the Group’s daily operation and they would
abstain from voting on any resolution(s) in which he had any
interest. Therefore, the Company continues to consider all the
existing INEDs to be independent for the year ended 31 March
2021 and up to the date of this annual report.
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THE BOARD (continued)

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the
corporate governance duties pursuant to code provision D.3.2
of the CG Code and is committed to ensuring that an effective
governance structure is in place to continuously review, monitor
and improve the corporate governance practices within the Group
with regard to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) stipulating the composition of the Board, reviewed the
policies and measures on the Group’s corporate governance,
reviewing a code of conduct applicable to the Directors and
employees, monitoring the Company’s legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuing professional development of
Directors and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and the disclosure in this report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the
Board in discharge of its corporate governance function.

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives, sustainable and balanced development. The Company
adopted the Diversity Policy which sets out the approach to
diversify the Board. The Nomination Committee reviews and
assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board periodically
and recommends the appointment of new Director, when
necessary, pursuant to the Diversity Policy.

In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The Nomination Committee of the Company will also
consider factors based on the Company’s business model,
specific needs and meritocracy from time to time in determining
the optimum composition of the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)

During the period under review, the Board comprised six Directors
(except the period before appointing Mr. Chan Yung as an
INED on 3 August 2020 since the decease of Dr. Lee Peng Fei,
Allen on 15 May 2020), including three executive Directors and
three INEDs, thereby promoting critical review and control of
the management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of professional
experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and
the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied
that the requirements set out in the Diversity Policy had been met.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development so as to develop and refresh Directors’
knowledge and skills and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. The company secretary
of the Company regularly circulates training materials, briefings
or reading materials to all Directors in respect of the updates on,
among other things, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)
or other useful guidelines, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “Companies Ordinance”)) and
financial or accounting standards which may be of the interest to
the Directors.

In addition, the company secretary of the Company also provides
and circulates to the Directors with monthly and regular updates
relating to the Group’s business, financial position and business
environment, in which the Group operates. During the year, all
existing Directors have complied with the code provisions in
relation to continuous professional development. Apart from
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business, updated
rules and regulation and other director’s duties and responsibilities
by all Directors, the Directors also enhanced their professional
development by way of attending seminars and/or forums.
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THE BOARD (continued)

The company secretary of the Company continuously updates
Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding
the Group’s business, the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year, all existing Directors have provided to the
Company with their training records on a regular basis, and such
records have been maintained by the company secretary of the
Company for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance to indemnify its Directors against liabilities
arising out of legal action on corporate activities. Such insurance
coverage is reviewed and renewed with consultant advice on an
annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
executive committee (the “Executive Committee”), the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the investment committee (the “Investment
Committee”), each of which has the specific written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated, where necessary.
Minutes of all meetings and resolutions of the committees are
kept by the company secretary of the Company and open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its
decision and recommendations, where appropriate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005
with specific terms of reference with authority delegated by the
Board. Its primary function is to undertake general management
and supervise the day-to-day management, performance and
operations in accordance with the business strategy of the Group.
It exercises leadership, develops and keeps under review strategy
and business development initiatives of the Group and monitors
their implementation. Currently, The Executive Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Yau
Yuk Yin and Ms. Stephanie and Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes the chair
of the Executive Committee.

The Audit Committee has been established since December
1999 with specific written terms of reference stipulating its
authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wangon.com) and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk).

In accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, a listed issuer
must establish an audit committee comprising a minimum of three
members. During the year under review (except the period before
appointing Mr. Chan Yung as an INED and a member of the Audit
Committee on 3 August 2020 since the decease of Dr. Lee Peng
Fei, Allen on 15 May 2020), the Audit Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely, Mr. Siu Kam Chau, Mr. Wong Chun, Justein and
Mr. Chan Yung, which is chaired by Mr. Siu Kam Chau. After the
decease of Dr. Lee, the late INED, on 15 May 2020, the Company
deviated from Rule 3.21 until Mr. Chan Yung was appointed by
the Board as an INED and a member of the Audit Committee
with effect from 3 August 2020. Since then, the Company has
complied Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The functions of the Audit Committee is, among others, to
assist the Board to review the financial reporting independently,
including interim and final results, to supervise over the Group’s
internal controls, risk management and to monitor the internal
and external audit functions, the appointment, reappointment and
removal of auditors and to make relevant recommendations to
the Board to ensure effective and efficient operation and reliable
reporting. The functions of the Audit Committee will be reviewed
regularly by the Board and amended from time to time, as and
when appropriate, in order to be in compliance with the code
provision of the CG Code (as amended from time to time) so
as to ensure that management has discharged its duty to have
an effective internal control system including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff to implement the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and has access to independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee members met
twice with senior management and the external auditor. During the
year and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
discussed and reviewed, inter alia, the following matters:

(@ the annual results for the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2021 and the interim results for the six-month ended
30 September 2020 to ensure the full, complete and
accurate disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements
pursuant to the accounting standards and other legal
requirements for presenting the same to the Board for
approval;

(b)  the term and remuneration for the appointment of Ernst
& Young as external auditor to audit and report on the
consolidated financial statement of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and 2021 and perform agreed upon
procedures on the interim results for the six-month ended
30 September 2020;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(c) the term and remuneration for the appointment of external
auditor to perform non-audit services and other special
corporate projects and review the overall significant control
system;

(d)  the independence of the external auditor especially for those
non-audit services;

(e) the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk
management systems; and

()  the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff, the accounting and financial reporting matters and
their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity
of Ernst & Young and has recommended to the Board the
reappointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s external
auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee
since September 2005 with specific written terms of reference,
as revised from time to time, stipulating its authorities and
duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wangon.com) and the HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk).
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, a listed issuer
must establish a remuneration committee comprising a majority
of independent non-executive directors. During the year under
review (except the period before appointing Mr. Chan Yung as
an INED and a member of the Remuneration Committee on
3 August 2020 since the decease of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen on
15 May 2020), the Remuneration Committee comprised three
INEDs, namely Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and
Mr. Chan Yung, and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Tang
Ching Ho and Ms. Yau Yuk Yin. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Wong Chun, Justein. After the decease of
Dr. Lee, the late INED, on 15 May 2020, the Company deviated
from Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules until Mr. Chan Yung was
appointed by the Board as an INED and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 3 August 2020.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and has access to independent
professional advice in accordance with the Company’s policy and
its terms of reference, if considered necessary.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(@ to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing a remuneration policy
on the basis of basic salary and allowances, discretionary
bonus and share options;

(b) to review and approve the senior management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s
corporate goals and objectives;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including, but not limited to, benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the Directors’
fee of the INEDs with reference to the range of remuneration
of other non-executive directors in the similar industry and
allow any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection
with the performance of their duties;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

()  to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;
and

(9@ to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to
ensure that they consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
four meetings, in which it reviewed the remuneration of Mr. Chan
Yung for his appointment in August 2020, the remuneration of
Ms. Stephanie for her appointment in February 2021, the existing
remuneration policies of Directors and senior management
by reference with the market research, communicated with
the chairman and recommended amendments to the existing
remuneration policies and performance-based bonus and
approved the remuneration package and performance-based
bonus paid the other Directors and senior management of
the Company. No Director took part in any discussion or
determination about his own remuneration.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue
to discharge its major roles to, among other things, approve
the terms of the service agreements of the Directors and the
senior management of the Company, make recommendations
with respect to the remuneration and policies of the Directors
and senior management of the Company and to review the
remuneration package and recommend salaries, bonuses,
including the incentive awards for the Directors and senior
management of the Company. No Director took part in any
discussion about his own remuneration.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, pursuant to the
code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of
other members of the senior management by bands for the year
ended 31 March 2021 is set out below:
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HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 2 3,000,0008 7T 1
Over HK$3,000,000 3,000,000 A £ 1

The Nomination Committee has been established since
September 2005 with specific written terms of reference,
as revised from time to time, stipulating its authorities and
duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wangon.com) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk).
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code provides that the
nomination committee should comprise a majority of independent
non-executive directors. During the year under review, the
Nomination Committee comprised the INEDs (except the period
before appointing Mr. Chan Yung as an INED and a member of
the Nomination Committee on 3 August 2020 since the decease
of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen on 15 May 2020), namely Mr. Wong
Chun, Justein, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Chan Yung, and the
executive Directors, namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Yau Yuk
Yin and Ms. Stephanie, which was chaired by Mr. Tang Ching
Ho since 3 August 2020. The Nomination Committee did not
comprise majority of INEDs during the year and was not chaired
by the chairman of the board or an independent non-executive
director, and deviated from the requirement of code provision A.5.1
of the CG Code. After the decease of Dr. Lee, the late INED, on
15 May 2020, the Nomination Committee had only two INEDs
until Mr. Chan Yung was appointed by the Board as an INED and
a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 3 August
2020 and Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board, was
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Coupled with the recent change in composition of the Nomination
Committee, the Board reviews and monitors any deviation to
ensure the maximisation of the benefit of the Stakeholders of
the Company, though the remaining members of the Nomination
Committee have extensive experience in different aspects in
the industry of the Group to make a right recommendation and
nominate right candidate to the right position to lead to the
success of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and
evaluation of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as a
Director and senior management. The Board has formalised its
existing practices into a nomination policy and adopted in October
2018. The nomination policy stipulated the key nomination criteria
and procedures for identifying and nominating suitably qualified
candidates to join the Board. The selection criteria specified in the
nomination policy include:

1. Selection Criteria

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the factors
(as reference), including reputation, integrity,
accomplishment and relevant experience in relation
to the principal businesses of the Company from
time to time, commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or
above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. These factors are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person,
as it considers appropriate;

retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the
Board to stand for re-election at a general meeting.
For those who have served as INEDs for a period of
nine consecutive years standing for re-election, the
Nomination Committee will consider the independence
of such Director for nomination by the Board to stand
for election at a general meeting and state the reason
in the circular to the Shareholders for the re-election;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

1.

2.

Selection Criteria (continued)

candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with
their written consent to be appointed as Director(s) and
to the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of
or in relation to their standing for election as Director(s);
and

the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s)
to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary.

Nomination Procedures

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call
a meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite
nominations of candidate(s) from Board members if
any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee
prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidate(s) who are not nominated
by Board members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing
candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the
Shareholders, the nominated persons shall not assume
that they have been proposed by the Board to stand
for election at the general meeting;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

2.

Nomination Procedures (continued)

in order to provide information of the candidate(s)
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a
general meeting, and to invite nominations from
the Shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for the Shareholders to make the nominations.
The names, brief biographies (including qualifications
and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidate(s) will be included in the
circular to the Shareholders;

the Shareholder can serve a notice to the company
secretary within the lodgement period of its intention
to propose a resolution to elect a person as
Director, without the Board’s recommendation or
the Nomination Committee’s nomination, other than
those candidate(s) set out in the circular to be sent to
the Shareholders. The particulars of the candidate(s)
so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for
information by a supplementary circular;

a candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature
at any time before the general meeting by serving a
notice in writing to the company secretary;

the Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand
for election at any general meeting; and

as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies
available, and the “gross-vote” method will be used
to determine who shall be elected as Director, the
resolutions proposed for the candidate(s) by the
Shareholders shall therefore take the same form
as the resolutions proposed for the candidate(s)
recommended by the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

In respect of the Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of the
benefits of diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors
implementation of this policy as part of the process of selecting
and nominating candidates for appointment to the Board.
Candidates are considered against the broad and diverse range
of aspects specified in the nomination policy, which among other
aspects also include gender, ethnicity and cultural background.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(@ to review and evaluate the structure, size and composition
(including diversity, skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board at least annually and make recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of INEDs;

(d)  to monitor the continuous professional development of the
Directors;

(e) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the chairman and the Managing
Director;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

() where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the
circular to the Shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting:

— the process used for identifying the individual why
the board believes the individual should be elected
and the reasons why it considers the individual to be
independent;

— if the proposed independent non-executive Director
will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, why the board believes the individual
would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board;

— the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

— how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board;
and

(@ the chairman or another member of the committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be
prepared to respond to questions raised by the Shareholders
on the committee’s activities and responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and would access to
independent professional advice according to the Diversity Policy
and its terms of reference, if considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held
three meeting, in which it considered and determined, inter alia,
the nomination of Mr. Chan Yung and Ms. Stephanie as Director
and the criteria and procedures for retirement by rotation and
recommended to the Board for re-election of Mr. Tang Ching
Ho and Mr. Siu Kam Chau at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, and the re-election of Ms. Stephanie who is proposed
to hold office only until the next general meeting. The Nomination
Committee also reviewed the Diversity Policy and evaluated the
Board performance and succession planning.

Wang On Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

H MHMEFERERASREABZRANEZEME
MALTRBIIFRTES  EERTET
R 038 B K SR AR R AR SRR &3 5 BE P
Z B - B

— JIFAAMERBEALTHNRE  EF
GRR/EEIZBALTNIEAULE
ER[/ZANLTBELATHOREA

— WMRREBILIFRTESHHESE
F(BALE) ETRARINES EF
GRRZB AT AR S R
TEFEINERRA

— RABALTAREFETANEBHER
B~ ee s &

— RBATWAEEEFEXNEZT
£ &

@ ERIZBER-KEBALRARBRER
BERE  WEBEZEBUDERRRE
BgnEs MBERHNEE -

REZESCDEREARERABITHERE -
IRBEBEFE - TEREBEZ TERE R ERE
HERDBULEXRER -

REBFEFERN BEZEERT=REHE I
ReZLEREET(EPRE)REREL
4 K Stephanie X T AEFLA R GBFREEZE
NEF URRAESEEZANEERRAFK
SEENBUVLERBRNGLE  UREE
StephanieZ + (RIEEBE TERREAE) © 18
HEBENERTZTIEEE  RiTHESS
ZRARUETEE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Investment Committee has been established since June
2012 with specific terms of reference for purposes of effectively
determining the investment strategy and plan, monitoring the
execution of investment strategy and adjusting the investment
strategy. As at 31 March 2021, the Investment Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Mr. Siu
Kam Chau, and Ms. Stephanie, which is chaired by Mr. Tang
Ching Ho.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS
MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at regular Board
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meetings, committee meetings and the Shareholders’ meeting ERITHEHEFe R  ZEegZMER
held during the year ended 31 March 2021 are as follows: REHHEERFBEHINDAT -
Annual
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Investment general
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee meeting
EEf? EXe ENZEE FMZEE REZEE REZEE RREEAE
Tang Ching Ho #}ism 44 NATER 414 33 212 17
Yau Yuk Yin HER 4/4 N/A iR 4/4 3/3 N/A iR N
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas REE (W= —F
(Resigned on 8 February 2021) —ANR %?E) 33 NATER  NATER 1/1 212 17
Stephanie Stephanie(R=F=—F
(Appointed on 8 February 2021) —AN E%iﬁt) 1 NATER  NATER 1 NATER  NATER
Lee Peng Fei, Allen ZER(N-Z-ZF
(passed away on 15 May 2020) hA+RAELRE) NA TER NATER — NAMER NA TER NATER  NAMER
Wong Chun, Justein T3 44 22 44 3 NATER 17
Siu Kam Chau B0 414 2/2 4/4 3/3 22 il
Chan Yung RE(MN-Z-%F
(Appointed on 3 August 2020) N\A=REZF) 33 11 33 22 NATEA 111
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEERME (8)
EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION INEBRZ BB 2 B

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors, Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 March 2021 which
has been reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee, are set
out as follows:

HE-TZ-—F=A=+—HILFE KX
ZESRMRAENRRAREN, TN IMNER
BEN LK BRI EE A e EFIImT

Fees paid/
payable to
Services rendered for the Group Ernst & Young
et ER
A MR it 2 BR 7% ZXEBMERMZER
HK$’000
FET
Audit services: AR -

— annual financial statements — FEMBHRE 11,640

Non-audit services: FEAZBARTS -
— agreed-upon procedures — HERF 1,565
— taxation and professional services — B R B ERE 1,433
— other professional services — H B EARTE 2,005
Total: st 16,643

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation
and publication of the timely financial statements and ensure that
they are prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. In preparing the accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors have adopted
suitable accounting policies which are pertinent to the Group’s
operations and relevant to the financial statements and have
presented an understandable assessment of the Group’s position
and prospects. The Directors confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, the accounts is prepared on a going concern basis
and they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
the events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors
continue to explore any opportunities with potential investors to
enhance its financial position and business development of the
Group by way of refinancing, extension of borrowings and/or fund
raising.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 129 to 141

of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has undertaken the overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of risks it willing to take for
maintaining a sound and effective risk management and internal
controls systems covering financial, operational, compliance and
risk management aspects to safeguard the Company’s assets
and the Shareholders’ interests.

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the risk management
and internal controls that are significant to the Group on an
ongoing basis. The Audit Committee would consider the
adequacy of resource, qualification, experience and training
programmes and budget of staff and external advisor of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function.

Management of the Group is delegated for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group’s assets and Stakeholder’s interest against
misstatement or loss and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s
operational systems. Management reports from time to time of
their findings and remedies to the Board for its consideration.
The Group has established the risk management procedures
to address and handle all significant risks associate with the
businesses of the Group. The Board would perform annual or
periodical review on any significant or dynamic change of the
business environment and establish procedures to response the
risks result from significant change of business environment.

Management would identify the risks associate with the
businesses of the Group by considering both internal and external
factors and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each of risks has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be
applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results,
type of risk management strategy has been listed as follows:

(@) risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

(b)  risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as
to avoid the risk;
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

(c) risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk
or allocate to different location or product or market; and

(d) risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the
Group and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks.
The risk management and internal control system are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Group has engaged an external
advisory firm to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group. All findings and recommendations
on internal control deficiencies were commmunicated with the Audit
Committee and the Board. Management confirmed that there
is no significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control
system has been identified by the external advisory firm for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

The Board conducted annual review on the risk management and
internal control system and procedures of the Group, covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
and it was considered that the internal controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to strictly comply with the relevant laws
and regulations, such as the Companies Act, the Companies
Ordinance, the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules and
regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. As far as the
Board is concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group and its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening
efforts on environmental protection, so as to facilitate industrial
upgrading. The Group has proactively taken measures to promote
environmental-friendliness of the workplace by conducting
energy-saving, encouraging paper-recycling culture, emission
reduction, pollution prevention and so forth within the Group.
The environmental policies and performance of the Group are
to be disclosed in the Group’s first standalone Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”) to be published in around September
2021 on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

While the Group endeavours to promote business development
and strive for greater rewards for our Stakeholders, we
acknowledge our corporate social responsibility to share some
burden in building the society where our business has been
established and thrived. During the past years, the Group made
charity donations to various organisations, including various
non-government and non-profit making organisations, and also
participated in, and successfully organised, various community
and caring services, details of which are to be disclosed in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

The Group is conscious of its role as a socially responsible group
of companies. It has made donations for community wellbeing
from time to time, supports the communities and encourages
its employees to participate in any charitable events and caring
services.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective
communications with Shareholders and investors (both individuals
and institutions) to ensure that the Group’s information is
disseminated to the Stakeholders in a timely manner and enable
them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise performance.
A shareholders communication policy has been adopted by
the Company and the same is available on the website of the
Company. Other major means of communications includes:
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Extensive information on the Group’s activities and financial
position will be disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports,
announcements, circulars and other corporate communications
which will be sent to the Shareholders and/or published on the
websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company
(www.wangon.com). Other inside information is released by way
of formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules
and Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings
and various general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to
communicate directly with the Shareholders and members of the
Board and the members of various committees are encouraged
to attend and answer questions at such general meetings.

In order to let Shareholders to make an informed decision at
the general meetings, sufficient notices with not less than 10
clear business days for every general meeting and 20 clear
business days for every annual general meeting were given to the
Shareholders pursuant to code provision E.1.3 of the CG Code,
the Bye-laws and any other applicable laws. The chairman will
explain the detailed procedures for conducting a poll vote during
the proceedings of meetings and answered all questions raised by
the Shareholders. All resolutions put to vote at general meetings
are taken by poll and the poll results are posted on the websites
of the Company (www.wangon.com) and the HKEXnews (www.
hkexnews.hk) following the holding of the general meetings.

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that
keeps investors and the Shareholders abreast the Group’s latest
development and discloses relevant information to the public in
a timely manner. During the year, we held various meetings with
investors and participated in investor and press conferences.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act and Bye-law 58 of
the Bye-laws, the Board whenever it thinks fit call special general
meetings and the Shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company to require a
special general meeting (the “SGM”) to be called by the Board.
The written requisition (i) must state the purposes of the SGM;
and (i) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite
3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of the Board or the company
secretary of the Company, and may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition.

Such requisitions will be verified by the Company’s share
registrars and upon their confirmation that the requisition is proper
and in order, the company secretary of the Company will inform
the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all the
Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified
as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the
requisitionists or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them may convene a SGM in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies
Act, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after expiration
of three months from the said date of deposit of the requisition.
A SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be
convened by the Board.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company, or not less than
100 Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a)
give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next annual
general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The
requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited at
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at
Suite 3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong or the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong,
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in case
of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one
week before the meeting in case of any other requisition.

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as
Director(s) at a general meeting are set out in the “Corporate
Governance” under section headed under “Corporate Profile” on
the website of the Group (www.wangon.com).

Wang On Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

REEBRERERRBE (H)

RIBRARDEE 79 R 801K « 358 AR Al A5 F
ARARNFIBRRERAE EREZHERAT IR
Z+ o2 —HRE(TmAZ) HTLR100%
R ATAEEA RN B RARG () A EEK
T—EBRRBFRAGBRE ZRREZELBA - MU
EMIMAERZAS L ERSETHEAS L
BE RER  RO)MARERXEMBRRERXR
CREZRREMIABBE—TF2BRlE - U
EMRZAE FREZAERMAETREE
BYEE BB RARBZFERENAKX
BERANRREBZ EBLE M (MUt AR BN
BENLBE B R B39 AR EH 321E 3202 F)
UARRNBZEBROBERERELOBERE
ZREARAR (MU AEEERKER 1835
AP 5418) - ERESERHZARQEEE
FIXHRIE - RARGRITRIR DR NERKE
(BYAZRBAZENR)  IRAERTHD
DR —EHRE(RERNEMER) -

RIREREAE HIRBAT2EERERNERF
B AN & B A8 TE (www.wangon.com) [ (R % &
)BT IR A -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TREBRE (

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written
form, to the Board in writing by email to (pr@wangon.com) or
by addressing their enquiries to the company secretary of the
Company in the following manners:

In respect of the corporate affairs:
Company Secretary

Wang On Group Limited

Suite 3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower
39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate
the achieving of high possible standards of openness, probity
and accountability. Procedures are formulated to enable individual
employees to disclose internally and at a high level, information
which the individual believes that it shows malpractice or
impropriety within the Group. During the year under review, no
incident of fraud or misconduct was reported from employees
that have material effect on the Group’s financial statements and
overall operations.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus was appointed by the Board as
company secretary of the Group with effect from 8 February
2021, reports directly to the Board and is responsible for, inter
alia, providing updated and timely information to all Directors from
time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, Mr. Cheung has complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there was no change in
the constitutional document. The Memorandum of Association
and the amended and restated Bye-laws are available on the
websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company
(www.wangon.com), respectively.

CONCLUSION

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its
corporate governance practices to maintain high level of
transparency, to enhance the Company’s competitiveness and
operating efficiency and to ensure its sustainable development
and to generate greater returns for the Stakeholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEERE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
comprise (i) property investment and property development
in Hong Kong through WOP, the Group’s 75%-owned listed
subsidiary; (i) manufacturing and/or retailing of pharmaceutical
and health food products through WYT, the Group’s
65.79%-owned listed subsidiary; and (i) management and sale
of properties in agricultural product exchange markets in the PRC
through CAP, a 53.37%-owned listed subsidiary of WYT. Details
of which are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There
was no significant change in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign
Investment (2015 version), value-added telecommunications
services are subject to foreign investment restriction in which a
foreign investor shall hold no more than 50% equity interest in
a value-added telecommunications services provider (excluding
e-commerce) in the PRC.

The Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) services belong to a
sub-category of value-added telecommunications services.
According to the Administrative Rules for Foreign Investment
in Telecommunications Enterprises, foreign investors shall
contribute to no more than 50% of the registered capital of a
value-added telecommunications services provider (excluding
e-commerce) and any such foreign investor shall maintain a good
track record and possess relevant operational experience in the
value-added telecommunications services industry (the “Foreign
Shareholding Restrictions”).

EEENEEHEE T —F=HA=+—HI+
F[E 2 REMEBIZIG BT EHE -

ARARZ EBEBRREER - KRR EM
BRAZIZXBEE(NEEEEA 5% EE
ZETHBRAREZLZMERBEREMERE
KR (i) B BEREE65.79% m 2 Eh
B AR T E R F B ERRRRMABER
SEEE Ri)VBRBTREER(UTEES
5337% @z LK B AR RABEKRERE
MR S5 MEEERIHE - BEAFBEHN
PIEHERMET - TR AREZ T EXHNE
W mEANE -

ERMER

REGOIMNAREEFREERR) (ZF—AFE
71D BEEGREZIMNERERS - INEER
BEMMSHETBISESERGRER (T2
BT A BB 50% IHE -

BEEEEREME (EBABBRME ) RE
BRIREEFERGOTER - REGOIMIREE
EEREERE)  IBEREEHEREEERS
RHA(TEERETER) NEMERTFEE
50% + BEMMEEINEIREZHAETRIFHOE
B YARBEEEERBENHBELER
B ([ INERFIRRS ) -

“EC-FFHR EREEERRA



94

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

Shenzhen Gudeng Technology Limited (“Shenzhen Gudeng”),
the then direct wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of Shenzhen Zhibo
Tianyu Trading Development Limited (“Shenzhen Zhibo”), an
indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of CAP, was incorporated
in September 2015 and received the ICP license on 7 September
2016. It holds one website and two mobile applications for the
CAP Group and is principally engaged in online provision of
agricultural products in the PRC.

On 19 June 2015, the Circular on Removing the Restrictions
on Shareholding Ratio Held by Foreign Investors in Online Data
Processing and Transaction Processing (Operating E-commerce)
Business (the “E-commerce Circular”) was issued, which allows
the foreign ownership in online data processing and transaction
processing (operating e-commerce) business up to 100%.
However, since the E-commerce Circular does not provide any
clear legal definition of “e-commerce”, it is unclear as to whether
the business to be conducted by Shenzhen Gudeng would fall
within the scope of the E-commerce Circular to benefit from the
loosened restrictions on the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions.

As such, Shenzhen Zhibo (i) entered into a disposal agreement
on 11 July 2016 with Yu Hui Jun (the “Nominee Shareholder”)
and (i) further entered into the exclusive business cooperation
agreement, the exclusive call option agreement, the equity pledge
agreement, the power of attorney and the ancillary documents
(collectively the “Structured Contracts”) with the Nominee
Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng on 9 October 2016 (other
than the exclusive business cooperation agreement which was
entered into by and between Shenzhen Zhibo and Shenzhen
Gudeng only and the power of attorney which was executed
by the Nominee Shareholder in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo) such
that the CAP Group is entitled to acquire the rights and ability
to control the business of Shenzhen Gudeng and to obtain the
economic benefit (the “Contractual Arrangements”).
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

The exclusive business cooperation agreement and the exclusive
call option agreement had an initial term of 3 years commencing
from the date of the relevant agreements which were renewed for
another 3 years on 8 October 2019. As security for the payment of
service fees under the exclusive business cooperation agreement
and the performance of the exclusive call option agreement and
the power of attorney, the equity pledge agreement executed
in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will only be terminated when all
the said obligations of the Nominee Shareholder contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements are fulfilled. Similarly, for
protection of the CAP Group, the power of attorney executed in
favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will be valid so long as the Contractual
Arrangements are in place. CAP will keep exploring various
opportunities in building up its ICP services operations for the
purposes of being qualified as early as possible, to acquire the
entire equity interest of Shenzhen Gudeng if and when the Foreign
Shareholding Restrictions are lifted. For details of the Structured
Contracts, please refer to the announcements of CAP dated
11 July 2016 and 11 October 2016, respectively.

Save for the exclusive business cooperation agreement which
involves the payment of a service fee by Shenzhen Gudeng
to Shenzhen Zhibo on a monthly basis, and the nominal
consideration paid by Shenzhen Zhibo to the Nominee
Shareholder under the exclusive call option agreement, each
of the Structured Contracts does not involve payment of any
consideration.
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

The Structured Contracts, taken as a whole, permit the results
and financial operations of Shenzhen Gudeng to be consolidated
in CAP, as if it was CAP’s subsidiary resulting in all economic
benefits of its business flowing to CAP. Through the appointment
by Shenzhen Zhibo of all directors and senior management
of Shenzhen Gudeng, the Directors believe that Shenzhen
Zhibo is able to effectively supervise, manage and operate the
business operations, expansion plans, financial policies and
assets of Shenzhen Gudeng, and at the same time, ensure due
implementation of the Structured Contracts. According to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, a subsidiary is an entity that
is controlled by another entity (known as the parent). An investor
controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Although CAP does not directly or indirectly own Shenzhen
Gudeng, the Structured Contracts enable CAP to exercise control
over and receive economic benefits generated from the business
operation of Shenzhen Gudeng and the validity and legality of
the Structured Contracts have been confirmed by CAP’s PRC
legal adviser. The CAP Group derives economic benefits from
the ICP services provided by Shenzhen Gudeng. Under such
circumstances, the Directors are of the view that it is fair and
reasonable for Shenzhen Zhibo to be entitled to all the economic
benefits generated from Shenzhen Gudeng. The Structured
Contracts also permit Shenzhen Zhibo to exclusively acquire all
or part of the equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng, if and when
permitted by PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the CAP
Group’s lack of equity ownership in Shenzhen Gudeng, the CAP
Group is able to control the business and financial position of
Shenzhen Gudeng in substance through the Structured Contracts.
As a result of the Structured Contracts, Shenzhen Gudeng is
accounted for as CAP’s subsidiary, and its financial position and
operating results are consolidated in CAP’s consolidated financial
statements.
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

The amount of financial assistance made by the CAP Group to
Shenzhen Gudeng was approximately RMB500,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, any dispute arising from
the interpretation and performance of the Structured Contracts
between the parties thereto should first be resolved through
negotiation, failing which any party may submit the said dispute
to the South China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (or Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration) with
a view to resolving the dispute through arbitration in accordance
with the arbitration rules thereof.

The Nominee Shareholder has undertaken in the exclusive call
option agreement and the equity pledge agreement that she shall
make all appropriate arrangements and execute all necessary
documents to ensure that, in the event of death, loss of capacity,
bankruptcy, divorce (or other circumstances) of herself, there
would be no adverse effect or obstacle in enforcing the exclusive
call option agreement and the equity pledge agreement by her
SuCCessors.

mEMan (E)

BE-_ZE-_—F=A=+—R01EE 7"HE
EREERFRIIASRENYSENSEBN S
AR # 500,000 7T °

REBGEBEALN  HBESHT 2HRERIEEAHN
MEBERERMELNEMNFE  BELHD
BEOR - WMARBEM R BOR - BIEM — S A KB
FRIEXTEREHMHEZEE (FRIIBER
) - PMRRE R e PR E B BIPEARR S

22
Ak ©

RAABRRERNBRBERE G ZE M EED R
BAGE  BEEE AR R AR E Y
AN AERMES T KRETTRESD - B
B BRIE (SUBREMBITR) B - B A E K
ABITRRRBE = L RELD R iz = 83
EAFIF B R ABE

“EC-FFHR EREEERRA



98

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

The Nominee Shareholder may have potential conflicts with
Shenzhen Zhibo and CAP. To mitigate any potential conflict of
interests, the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng have
undertaken in the exclusive call option agreement that, during
the period the exclusive call option agreement remains effective,
unless otherwise agreed by Shenzhen Zhibo, the Nominee
Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng (i) would not participate in
any business which may be in competition with the business of
Shenzhen Zhibo or its related companies; and (i) would appoint
nominees nominated by Shenzhen Zhibo as Shenzhen Gudeng’s
director(s) or executive director(s).

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangements: (1) the PRC Government may determine that the
documents for the Contractual Arrangements do not comply with
applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangements may
not provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the
Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC
tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.

Furthermore, the CAP Group conducts its business operation in
the PRC through Shenzhen Gudeng by way of the Contractual
Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements may not be enforceable under the PRC laws.
As advised by the CAP’s PRC legal advisers, the Contractual
Arrangements were narrowly tailored to minimize the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of
Shenzhen Gudeng, the Contractual Arrangements have provided,
without having obtained the consent of Shenzhen Zhibo, the
Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng (i) shall not sell,
transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any material
assets, legitimate interest or revenue of Shenzhen Gudeng, or
allow any encumbrance thereon of any security interest; and (ii)
shall always operate Shenzhen Gudeng’s business in the ordinary
and usual course of business and shall maintain the asset value of
Shenzhen Gudeng and refrain from any action/omission that may
adversely affect Shenzhen Gudeng’s operating status and asset
value.

The board of CAP confirmed that there is no material change in
the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under
which they were adopted, and its impact on the CAP Group,
and the terms of the Contractual Arrangements and the financial
assistance are on normal commercial terms.

The board of CAP also confirmed that there is no unwinding of
the Structured Contracts or failure to unwind when the restrictions
that led to the adopted Structured Contracts are removed.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 142 to 392.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s revenue
and profit attributable to owners of the parent amounted to
HK$1,893.6 million (2020: HK$3,440.7 million) and HK$123.9
million (2020: HK$474.9 million (restated)), respectively.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HKO0.2 cent (2020: HKO0.5 cent) per ordinary share for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company as of Friday,
3 September 2021. The final dividend will be paid on or around
Tuesday, 14 September 2021, subject to the Shareholders’,
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Wednesday, 25 August 2021. Together
with the interim dividend of HKO.1 cent (30 September 2019:
HKO.1 cent) per ordinary share, the total dividends for the year
ended 31 March 2021 will be HK0.3 cent (2020: HKO.6 cent) per
ordinary share.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF KEY
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The business review and the key financial performance indicators
to the businesses of the Group, including, among other things,
the information set out below, are disclosed in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 17 to 52 of this annual report:

(@  afair review of the Group’s business;

(b)  principal risk factors;

(c) ananalysis using key financial performance indicators; and

(d) future development in the Group’s business.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF KEY
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
(continued)

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and
performance of the Group were disclosed in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and the Corporate Governance Report
in this annual report.

For more details of the corporate social responsibility,
environmental policies and performance of the Group, please
refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to
be published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in due course.

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in
material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements, is set out on pages 395 to 396 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
option scheme during the year, together with the reasons therefor,
are set out in notes 36 and 37 to the financial statements,
respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 740 million
shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company on the Stock Exchange.
All the repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled by the
Company on 17 December 2020.

Details of the share repurchases during the year are as follows:

=)

mn=

BE HEFWEEELQT 2 LHES

all

FR - AR BRI R FTEEE A £ 740,000,000 f%
SREECI B TZARRRG - FTEEEE
BHEFEN S -_ZTF+_A++tHBAR

FARMDBLENFRIOT

Number of share Purchase price per share Aggregate

Month of repurchases repurchased Highest Lowest amount
SREEE

At Boko®E B B B

HKS HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

(in million) (in million)

(BER) (R8#ETL)

December 2020 “Z-TF+ZA 740.0 0.067 0.061 48

740.0 48

The repurchases of the Company’s shares during the year were
made pursuant to the mandate granted by the Shareholders at the
2020 annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 August
2020, with a view to benefiting the Shareholders as a whole by
enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share
of the Company. As at 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report, the total number of shares of the Company in issue
was 16,657,520,047 shares.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year under review.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to equity holders of the parent, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), amounted to approximately HK$673.5 million (2020:
approximately HK$777.5 million), of which approximately HK$33.3
million has been proposed as a final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2021.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation
to any of the affairs of the Company, every Director and other
officers shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, losses, damages and expenses which they may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done about the execution of
the duties of their respective office or otherwise in relation thereto.
The Company had arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other officers of
the Group for the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 7% (2020:
approximately 5%) of the total sales for the year and the sales to
the largest customer included therein accounted to approximately
2%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 30% (2020: approximately 9%) of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 15% of the total
purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five
largest suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, Jr Chairman

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, Deputy Chairman

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas, Managing Director
(Resigned on 8 February 2021)

Ms. Stephanie (Appointed on 8 February 2021)

Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, B8S, MBE, JP
Mr. Siu Kam Chau
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, CBE, BS, FHKIE, JP
(Passed away on 15 May 2020)
Mr. Chan Yung, BBS, JP
(Appointed on 3 August 2020)

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Tang
Ching Ho and Mr. Siu Kam Chau will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, pursuant to Bye-law 86(2),
Ms. Stephanie will hold office only until the next general meeting
and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election at that annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received confirmations of independence
from all existing independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Chan Yung,
and as at the date of this annual report still considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 53 to 59 of this annual report
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 9 and 46 to the financial statements,
no Directors nor a connected entity of a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party during the year.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas, the former managing Director
(resigned on 8 February 2021) and also the former chairman
and managing director of Easy One, which has been principally
engaged in, among others, financing business since November
2015, was considered to have an interest in business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman
and an executive Director, is the sole ultimate beneficial owner of
Easy One after the privatization of Easy One with effect from 16
October 2020. Ms. Stephanie, an executive Director, is a director
of Easy One and the daughter-in-law of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms.
Yau Yuk Yin, the deputy chairman and an executive Director, is
the spouse of Mr. Tang Ching Ho. Save as disclosed herein, none
of the Directors nor their respective associates had an interest
in a business, apart from the businesses of the Group, which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEWE (F)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and/or any of
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model
Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

EERETBRITHAEBRAE QT REATHS
EEZBRS - HERODREZz2EER

029}

RZFB-_—F=ZA=1—H EFERARAZE
B2IBAEBR,/ HEEEEZHEANRRRR
s EEAI ARG AE (E & R s B RAIE XV
B8 2 Bfn ~ AR AESTFEREELRAR
AIRERE S M EIRDIE 352 (R RFE 2 B
W FORR - HIRIRFE IR R B 5G] 5 XV EE
K EMARAE T RETRIZBAE AR R BHER
Pz ez FOXRRIAT

REQTDEBRZHER :

Number of ordinary shares held, capacity and nature of interest Approximate

FIEEEREE  SHREREE percentage of

the Company’s

Personal Family Corporate Other total issued

interest interest interest interest Total  share capital

ERAR2HE

BIRAZHA

Name of Director ESi? BARER FhER NEER Efts @ Batt

(Note f)

(Hit)

%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (‘Mr. Tang) HEMRE(BEE]) 28026339 28026300 2734664306 4,989,928,827  7,780,645,772 46,71
(Note ) (Note b) (Note c)

(Hita) (Hitb) (Hitc)

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (‘Ms. Yau') BERLT([FLL]) 28026300 2762,690,645 - 4,989,928827  7,780,645,772 46.71
(Note d) (Note &)
(Wiia) (Wiite)

Ms. Stephanie Stephanie 2L 3,400,000 - - - 3,400,000 0.02
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEWE (F)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:
(continued)

Notes:

(@)

Mr. Tang was taken to be interested in those shares in which his
spouse, Ms. Yau, was interested.

486,915,306 shares were held by Caister Limited (a company wholly
owned by Mr. Tang), 531,000,000 shares were held by Billion Trader
Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Loyal Fame International
Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Easy One, which is turn
wholly-owned by Mr. Tang), and 432,475,200 and 1,284,273,800
shares were held by Suntech Investments Limited and Hearty Limited
respectively (both direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart
Investments Limited, which is directly wholly owned by WYT, which is
owned as to 65.14% by Rich Time Strategy Limited, which is in turn
wholly owned by Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited (“WOE”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company).

Mr. Tang was taken to be interested in those shares by virtue of being
the founder of a discretionary trust, namely Tang’s Family Trust.

Ms. Yau was taken to be interested in those shares in which her
spouse, Mr. Tang, was interested.

Ms. Yau was taken to be interested in those shares by virtue of being a
beneficiary of Tang’s Family Trust.

The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
forms filed under the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEWE (F)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Interest in the shares and underlying shares of
associated corporations:

EERETBRITHAEBRAE QT REATHS
EEZBRS - HERODEZ2EER

wE (&)

FARESEE 2 RO RARBIR G 2

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Total number associated
associated Nature of of shares corporation’s
Name of Director corporation interest involved  total issued shares
L
ERITROBH
EEHE LB E B EEME S RRG B ZBHBEIE
(Note a)
(Brzta)
Mr. Tang CAP Interest of controlled 7,450,095,747 74.85%
B4 A R EE corporation (Note b)
Ms. Yau g VNI S (K1ztb)
ML
WYT Interest of controlled 810,322,940 65.79
fITE corporation (Note c)
S | VNI £ (Biztc)
WOP Interest of controlled 11,400,000,000 75.00
REME corporation (Note c)
RPN RS (Kiztc)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEWmE(

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

)

Save

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
form(s) filed under the SFO

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website
of the Stock Exchange, among of the 7,450,095,747 shares of CAP,
2,007,700,062 shares were held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger
Investments”), Convertible Notes convertible into 130,000,000
shares were held by Peony Finance Limited (“Peony Finance”) and
5,312,395,685 shares were held by Goal Success Investments Limited
(“Goal Success”). Onger Investments and Peony Finance were directly
wholly owned by Loyal Fame International Limited (“Loyal Fame”, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Easy One which is in turn wholly-
owned by Mr. Tang). Goal Success was directly wholly owned by
Biomore Investments Limited (“Biomore Investments”) (a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart Investments Limited (“Total
Smart”) which is directly wholly owned by WYT. WYT is owned as to
65.14% by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time”) which is wholly
owned by WOE, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which was
owned as to 46.71% by Mr. Tang, together with his associates.

810,322,940 shares of WYT were held by Rich Time, which is
wholly owned by WOE, a wholly owned sharing of the Company;
11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by Earnest Spot Limited (a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE).

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the

Directors and chief executive of the Company and/or any of their
respective associates had registered an interest or short position

in the

shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or

any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part

XV of

the SFO or the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations” above, “Share Option Schemes” below and in
the share option scheme disclosures in note 37 to the financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2012
Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
21 August 2012 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. The 2012 Scheme became effective on
21 August 2012 and, unless otherwise terminated earlier by the
Shareholders at a general meeting, will remain in force for a period
of 10 years from that date.

Under the 2012 Scheme, share options may be granted to
any Director or proposed Director (whether executive or non-
executive, including INEDs), employee or proposed employee
(whether fulltime or part-time), secondee, any holder of securities
issued by any member of the Group, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support
or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of the Group or any substantial shareholder or company
controlled by a substantial shareholder, or any company controlled
by one or more persons belonging to any of the above classes of
participants (the “Participants”).

Wang On Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

EEZREROHES 2ER

B EX TESEREBZTHRABRAA R REAGH
EBEZ A - R ES 2 Em AR ]
NI [ FERHERT & | LA R B S R M oE 37 R R
SEFREEHEIN  RERTARRE - AAF]
BEATMEFLARES B ZEBHIERKF
FRERLERN > AIREBEARRRS - HEK
Mk EmmEm - MKRFINEITEERZSE
A AR B EAER B QB RS A
ZHAEEFNEMEMEABETREZE
REFI o

BT E

ARBREE-FT-——F/\AZ+—HETH
BRERAFAE ERA—EFBEREFS (=2

——FFE ) TEERYAEB ZKINEE
PrER R ATREER Z BERIZ A BB AL Z
HEEEE - — T —FFER_F——FN

AZ+—BAER BRIFRRRRE ERBIRE
Bl BRSEZEETFRABR -

RE-F-—F5E BREAIETIWNES
SREES (TRANTEZTIOFNTES £
EEUIFMITES)  REESIWMEBFZREE(

) @

wmaEBEcRE) BHEET - EAAKENKE
RABTZEBFFBA - EAARALAEEKER
AT - B EMRMIRRER - &

W BRIEMRGEZ ALHHEE > T ER
%‘JZEEE%J&%T /NI 3z = R VA 41V
AEREER2EE ([S8RE ) Es 28 -



SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Under the 2012 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to
the Participants to subscribe for shares of the Company for a
consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted
which must be accepted within 30 days from the date offer. Share
options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at Shareholders’ meetings.

Pursuant to the 2012 Scheme, the maximum number of share
options that may be granted under the 2012 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company is an amount, upon
their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding any
shares issued on the exercise of share options. The total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2012 Scheme and any other schemes shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares in issue, as at
the date of approval of the 2012 Scheme limit.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each Participant (except for a substantial shareholder or an INED
or any of their respective associates) under the 2012 Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
Shareholders with such Participant and his associates abstaining
from voting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
must be approved by the INEDs (excluding any INED who is
the grantee of the option). Where any grant of share options to
a substantial shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective
associates) will result in the total number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of share options already granted and
to be granted to such person under the 2012 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at each date
of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of share
options is required to be approved by shareholders in a general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules. Any change in the
terms of a share option granted to a substantial shareholder or an
INED (or any of their respective associates) is also required to be
approved by shareholders.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or the exercise price must be at
least the higher of (i) the official closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange on the offer date which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value
of a share of the Company.

During the year under review, no share options under the 2012
Scheme were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. As at the
end of the year, the Company had no outstanding share options
under the 2012 Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the 2012 Scheme is 1,928,852,004 shares,
representing approximately 11.6% of the share capital of the
Company in issue as at the date of this report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Other particulars of the 2012 Scheme are set out in note 37 to the
financial statements.

WOP adopted a share option scheme (the “WOP Share Option
Scheme”) with the approval of the shareholders of WOP and the
Company at the respective annual general meetings held on 9
August 2016 for the primary purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. The WOP Share Option Scheme became
effective on 9 August 2016 and, unless otherwise terminated
earlier by its shareholders at a general meeting, will remain in force
for a period of 10 years from that date.

Under the WOP Share Option Scheme, share options may be
granted to any director or proposed director (whether executive
or non-executive, including independent non-executive directors),
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time),
secondee, any holder of securities issued by any member of the
WOP Group, or its holding company, substantial shareholder
or any company controlled by its substantial shareholder, any
person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support or any advisory, consultancy, professional
or other services to any member of the WOP Group or any of its
substantial shareholder or company controlled by its substantial
shareholder, or any company controlled by one or more persons
belonging to any of the above classes of participants (the “WOP
Participants”).

The board of directors or WOP may grant share options to WOP
Participants to subscribe for shares of WOP for a consideration
of HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted which must be
accepted within 30 days from the offer date. Share options do
not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at the
shareholders’ meetings of WOP.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The maximum number of share options that may be granted
under the WOP Share Option Scheme is the number, upon their
exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of the issued share
capital of WOP from time to time, excluding any shares issued on
the exercise of share options. The total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the WOP Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares of WOP
in issue, as at the date of approval of the WOP Share Option
Scheme, or as refreshed.

The maximum number of WOP shares issuable under share
options to each WOP Participant (except for a WOP substantial
shareholder or a WOP independent non-executive director or
any of their respective associates) under the WOP Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
number of shares of WOP in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of such limit must be separately approved
by the shareholders of WOP and the Company with such WOP
Participant and his/her associates abstaining from voting. Share
options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of WOP (or any of their respective associates) must
be approved by the independent non-executive directors of WOP
(excluding any independent non-executive directors of WOP who
is the grantee of the options).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of WOP (or any of their
respective associates) will result in the total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of share options already
granted and to be granted to such person under the WOP
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
WOP (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of WOP in
issue, and having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of WOP’s shares at each date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million,
such further grant of share options is required to be approved
by the Shareholders of WOP and the Company at a general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules. Any change in
the terms of a share option granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of WOP (or any of
their respective associates) is also required to be approved by
shareholders of WOP and the Company.

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the official
closing price of the shares of WOP as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing prices of the
shares of WOP as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a share of WOP.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of WOP’s
shares available for issue under the WOP Share Option Scheme is
1,520,000,000 shares, representing 10.0% of the share capital of
WOP in issue at the date of this annual report.

During the year, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed,
cancelled or outstanding under the WOP Share Option Scheme.

Other particulars of the WOP Share Option Scheme are set out in
note 37 to the financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

At the annual general meeting of WYT held on 22 August 2013,
its shareholders approved the termination of the share option
scheme previously adopted on 18 September 2003 (the “WYT
2003 Scheme”) and the adoption a new share option scheme
(the “WYT 2013 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentive and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the WYT Group’s operations. Upon termination of
the WYT 2003 Scheme, no share option was granted thereunder
but the subsisting share options granted prior to the termination
will continue to be valid and exercisable during the prescribed
exercisable period in accordance with the terms of the WYT 2003
Scheme. The WYT 2013 Scheme became effective on 22 August
2013 and, unless otherwise terminated earlier by the shareholders
of WYT and the Company at their respective general meetings,
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from that date.

Pursuant to the WYT 2013 Scheme, share options may be
granted to any director or proposed director (whether executive
or non-executive, including the independent non-executive
directors) of WYT, employee or proposed employee (whether
full-time or parttime), secondee, any holder of securities issued
by any member of the WYT Group, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support
or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to
any member of the WYT Group or any substantial shareholder or
company controlled by a substantial shareholder, or any company
controlled by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants (the “WYT Participants”).

Under the WYT 2013 Scheme, the board of directors of WYT
may grant share options to the WYT Participants to subscribe
for shares of WYT for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot of
share options granted which must be accepted within 30 days
from the offer date. Share options do not confer rights on the
holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings of WYT.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Pursuant to the WYT 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of
share options that may be granted under the WYT 2013 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of WYT is the number, upon
their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of the issued
share capital of WYT from time to time, excluding any shares
issued on the exercise of share options. The total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the WYT 2013 Scheme and any other schemes
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares of
WYT in issue, as at the date of approval of the WYT 2013 Scheme
limit or as refreshed from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each WYT Participant (except for a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of WYT or any of their
respective associates) under the WYT 2013 Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the number of shares of WYT
in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
such limit must be separately approved by shareholders of WYT
and the Company with such WYT Participant and his associates
abstaining from voting. Share options granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of WYT (or any of their
respective associates) must be approved by the independent
non-executive directors (excluding any independent non-executive
directors who is the grantee of the option) of WYT.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive directors of WYT (or any of their
respective associates) will result in the total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of share options already
granted and to be granted to such person under the WYT 2013
Scheme and any other share option schemes of WYT (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of WYT’s shares at
each date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of
share options is required to be approved by shareholders of WYT
and the Company at a general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules. Any change in the terms of a share option granted
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director (or any of their respective associates) is also required to
be approved by shareholders of WYT and the Company.

The exercise price must be at least the highest of (i) the official
closing price of the shares of WYT as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which must be a
business day; (i) the average closing prices of the shares of WYT
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of WYT.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEWE (F)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The share options scheme(s) of WYT (continued)
Details of the movements of the share options under the WYT

2003 Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2021 were as
follows:
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Nurber of share options
BhRisA
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  OQutstanding Exercise
asat during the during the during the asat Date of price Exercisable
1 April 2020 year year year 31 March 2021 grant per share period
R-BZ%F R8z-F
Nameorcategoryof 2554 mE-A ZR=1-8
WYT Participant 2ERIEH HAGE  FMERE  FAEAR  EACAM AT RHA% ShiTRE k4R
HKS (Nots)
AT (H)
Other employees finEtES
of YT
In agoregate AR 16,587 - - (16,537) - 1252010 1497 1252011 -
1152020
Total fa 16,537 - - (16537) -

During the year, apart from 16,537 share options lapsed under
the WYT 2003 Scheme, no share option was granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled under the WYT 2003 Scheme and no share
option was granted, exercised, lapsed, cancelled or outstanding
under the WYT 2013 Scheme.

At the end of the year, there was no share option outstanding
under the WYT 2003 Scheme and the WYT 2013 Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of WYT’s
shares available for issue under the WYT 2013 Scheme is
126,514,288 shares, representing approximately 10.3% of the
total issued share capital of WYT.

Other particulars of the WYT 2013 Scheme are set out in note 37
to the financial statements.

On 3 May 2012, CAP adopted a new share option scheme (the
“CAP 2012 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentive to selected eligible persons (the “CAP Participants”)
to take options for their contribution to the CAP Group. Under
the CAP 2012 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP may grant
share options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for the shares
of CAP (the “CAP Share(s)”) for a consideration of HK$1 for
each lot of share options granted. The exercise price is to be
determined by its board and shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the official closing price of the CAP Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; (i) the average of the official closing price
of the CAP Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a CAP Share.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The number of CAP Shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any CAP Participant in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the CAP Shares
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
shareholders of CAP. Options granted to substantial shareholders
of CAP or independent non-executive directors of CAP, or any of
their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the CAP Shares
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
must be approved in advance by the shareholders of CAP. The
CAP 2012 Scheme became effective on 3 May 2012 and will
remain in force for a period of 10 years. There is no specific
requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period
before it can be exercised but its board is empowered to impose
at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of
any particular option. The period during which an option may be
exercised will be determined by the board of CAP at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised for a period of
more than 10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at
general meeting, the board of CAP may refresh the limit at any
time to 10% of the total number of CAP Shares in issue as at
the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP at its general
meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the CAP Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the CAP 2012 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of CAP at any time shall not exceed
30% of the CAP Shares in issue from time to time.

Since the adoption of the CAP 2012 Scheme and up to 31 March
2021, no option had been granted. As at the date of this annual
report, the total number of CAP Shares available for issue under
the CAP 2012 Scheme is 995,306,782, representing 10% of the
existing issued share capital of CAP.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEERE (&)
SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) BRESE (&)
The share options scheme(s) of CAP (continued) FEEERBERETS (&)
Other particulars of the CAP 2012 Scheme are set out in note 37 HFEBIRER T — —F:18| 2 E 15N
to the financial statements. TREMIFEST ©

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO showed that the following
shareholders (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company) had notified the Company and the Stock Exchange of
relevant interests and short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

FERRRHEMATRERD REBER S
ez Rk

RZFBZ—F=ZA=+t—H BREZFAH XK
NEREE 7 M B GHIE 336 FREFE 2
ZERECMAET » TR (EFEHART

EIRBITBABKRIN EHEARRR] LB AER
$ Al R AR A (0 R B 2 AR R M e ROk

H>

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Number of total issued
Notes Capacity shares share capital
BRRTRH
BRITREZ
Name of Shareholder EE: V82 it af RH#E R
(Note (4))
(Wit4)
%
Accord Power Limited WhERAR 1) Beneficial owner 4,989,928,827 2096
(‘Accord Power’) (%)) — Tang’s Family Trust
BREAA
—BRAHER
Fiducia Suisse SA Fiducia Suisse SA ?) Interest of controlled corporation 4,989,928,827 29.96
— Trustee
RTINS — KA
Mr. David Henry Christopher Hil David Henry Christopher Hil - (2) Interest of controlled corporation 4,989,928,827 29.96
it REHIRAAER
WYT firre 3 Interest of controlled corporation 1,716,749,000 10.31
SRR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (E)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(continued)

Notes:

(1) Accord Power is wholly owned by Fiducia Suisse SA in its capacity as
the trustee of Tang’s Family Trust. Accordingly, Fiducia Suisse SA was
taken to be interested in those shares held by Accord Power.

(2)  Fiducia Suisse SA is the trustee of the Tang’s Family Trust. Fiducia
Suisse SA is wholly owned by Mr. David Henry Christopher Hill, and
accordingly, Mr. David Henry Christopher Hill was taken to be interested
in those shares in which Fiducia Suisse SA was interested.

(8)  WYTis an indirect non wholly-owned listed subsidiary of the Company.

(4)  The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
forms filed under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, there were no
persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or where were recorded in the register
that was required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO.

FERRRHEMATREROREBRS
CRERAR (B)

Hrat -

2 1/ Fiducia Suisse SAUBEKREEEZ FFEA
HH2E%A - Bk Fiducia Suisse SA R A
BN BRER D 2 -

Fiducia Suisse SAB B K R G5t 2 X 5L A ©
Fiducia Suisse SA g David Henry Christopher Hill
£ 2 E A FIilt  David Henry Christopher
Hill 55 42 45 1% /& % A Fiducia Suisse SA BT & gz
2 ZERAD 2 g e

UTERAARMEIEE 2 EHHBAR -

ZAEDHTRIBEES PR ROIERNAEEE
FRIEHER -

BREXPBEBEEN RZF_—F=A=1+—
B BEAL(BEFHARAEIEZTHRAERK
SN AR BB D SARBEA D R A R IBRE 75 &

HH»(

GBI EXVERSE 2 3D 2 2 G X B R AR

AR ER - HACEINRIERE 75 K B 165 336 16
BHARRFENELCMANERIORE
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group recognised enhancing and maintaining good
relationships with suppliers and customers are essential for the
Group’s overall growth and development. The Group placed
specific caution on selection of quality suppliers and customers
and encourages fair and open competition to foster long-term
relationships with quality suppliers on the basis of mutual trust.
The Group has kept good communications and shared business
updates with them when appropriate. The communication policies
and the Group’s performance are detailed in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be published in accordance the
requirement under the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 8 December 2016, the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, namely Richly Gold Limited (as the landlord), entered
into a tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”) with
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, the Deputy Chairman of the Company, (as the
tenant) in respect of the lease of a premise located at Winners
Lodge, Nos. 9-15 Ma Yeung Path, Kau To Shan, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong for a term of three years commencing
from 15 November 2016 and expiring on 14 November 2019
at a monthly rental of HK$100,000, which was renewed for a
further three years until 13 November 2022 under a renewal
tenancy agreement dated 27 February 2020 with other terms
and conditions remained unchanged. The aforesaid tenancy
constituted a continuing connected transaction (the “Continuing
Connected Transaction”) for the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2021 which is exempt from disclosure, annual
review and shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken
by the Group in the ordinary course of business during the year
under review, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules,
are set out in note 46 to the financial statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as
disclosed above, there were no other transactions which need to
be disclosed as continuing connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 4 May 2020, Caister requested the board of directors of Easy
One to put forward the proposal for the privatisation of Easy One
by Caister by way of the scheme of arrangement under Section
99 of the Bermuda Companies Act involving the cancellation
of all the scheme shares and the simultaneous issuance of an
equivalent number of new Easy One shares to Caister and/or
its designated wholly-owned subsidiary(ies) as defined in the
circular of the Company dated 24 July 2020 (the “duly 2020
Circular”), which includes, among others, the passing of an
ordinary resolution by the independent shareholders at the special
general meeting held on 26 August 2020 (the “SGM”) to approve
the WYT Disposal (as defined in the July 2020 Circular), the
proposal and the scheme will become effective and binding on
Easy One and all shareholders of Easy One, including WYT, on the
date on which the Scheme (as defined in the July 2020 Circular)
becomes effective in accordance with the Bermuda Companies
Act. Accordingly, the proposal, as and when it is implemented,
will involve WYT effectively disposing of 161,718,625 Easy
One shares, representing its entire shareholding in Easy One
and approximately 29.06% of the total issued share capital of
Easy One, to Caister at the cancellation consideration through
the cancellation of all such Easy One shares in exchange for
Caister paying to WYT the cancellation consideration comprising
the scheme cash consideration of HK$48,515,587.5 and
1,293,749,000 consideration shares. The original acquisition cost
to Caister in respect of the aforesaid 1,293,749,000 consideration
shares was approximately HK$297.6 million. As the entire issued
share capital of Caister is beneficially owned by Mr. Tang Ching
Ho, the controlling shareholder of the Company and a Director,
who is a connected person of the Company, the WYT Disposal
(as defined in the July 2020 Circular) constituted a connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The ordinary resolution in respect of the WYT Disposal
(as defined in the July 2020 Circular) was duly passed by the
Independent Shareholders (as defined in the July 2020 Circular) at
the SGM by way of a poll.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
totalling approximately HK$7.3 million (2020: approximately
HK$17.9 million).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy for its employees is set up and
approved by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board, as authorised by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting, having regarded
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the 2012 Scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of the 2012 Scheme are
set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices for the benefit of the Company
and its Shareholders. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company
has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the
financial year under review, except for code provision A.5.1 of the
CG Code. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 60 to 92 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient prescribed amount of public float as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the financial year
under review and up to the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference (as amended from time to time) in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. During the year
under review, the Audit Committee comprised three INEDs,
namely Mr. Siu Kam Chau, Mr. Chan Yung (except the period
before appointing Mr. Chan Yung as an INED and a member of
the Audit Committee on 3 August 2020 since the decease of
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen on 15 May 2020) and Mr. Wong Chun,
Justein and Mr. Siu Kam Chau acted as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee met twice with management
and the external auditor to review and consider, among other
things, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, the financial reporting matters, including the review of the
audited consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31
March 2020 and the unaudited consolidated interim results for the
six-month ended 30 September 2020, the statutory compliance,
internal controls, risk management and the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function as well as their training
programmes and budget.

Immediately after the decease of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, the
late INED on 15 May 2020, the Audit Committee comprised two
INEDs, namely Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Wong Chun, Justein,
Mr. Siu Kam Chau was elected as the chairman of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Chan Yung was appointed by the Board as an
INED and a member of the Audit Committee on 3 August 2020.
Since then, the Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2021 have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee
with management and independent auditors of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (E)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD REMREE

Details of significant events of the Group after the reporting period ~ BEIASEE RN HE & 2 ERXEBIEF BN
are set out in note 50 to the financial statements. AR EES0 -

AUDITORS BB

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 have #HZE—_ZT-_—F=A=+—HIFE 2%
been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young, who retire and, being FRE&L KGN EHTEZ @ ©KEFTAIER
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their ~ FTiEMER - G ERX T EEEXEE - A
re-appointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at  BAEHE L K S &5TEN ST EEAR D SZ SN 2

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. FEEBNARA 2 EERFBAFAS LIRS -
On behalf of the Board EEEEMm

Tang Ching Ho E

Chairman A

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021 B T —FXAZTNAB
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBENHR S

e
EY:

To the shareholders of Wang On Group Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wang
On Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 142 to 392, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEFEITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMHOFAMAEERRETEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

RETYRRIFIEL EY R A 25 FE

The Group’s properties under development and
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. As at 31 March 2021, the
aggregate carrying amount of these properties was
HK$7,340,931,000, which represented approximately
35 9% of the total assets of the Group.

IZ%E$%%&h¢m%%%MWK£T“ﬁ@
@ﬁ%¢fﬁ%ﬂ% cHR_B_—F=A=+—H"
LY ¥ BRE 48 57,340,931,0008 7T © 16 %%l
HEEL36.9% °

During the year, write-down of HK$139,829,000 was
recognised in profit or loss against properties held for
sale.

FR ERFELEMENEZ P ER MM
139,829,000/8 7T °

The Group engaged external valuers to perform the
valuations of these properties under development and
properties held for sale as at 31 March 2021. This is
identified as a key audit matter because significant
estimation is required to determine the net realisable
value of the properties under development and
properties held for sale, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

SER _T_—F=RA=+—HZBIBAEMEZ
ﬁ%E¢%%&%¢ﬁ%%%Lﬂﬁﬁ It FE 8 Bl A3 R
ﬁ%%?ﬁ FREREETERTYENFHELEYE

RZAEITE R - RN EIRE R 2 TSR

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to
the properties under development and properties held
for sale are included in notes 2.4, 3, 17 and 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
BRAERTMERFIELEME 2 5T HER REESH N
IREMBERENTE2.4 317 k21 ¢

Our audit procedures to assess the estimation of net
realisable value of properties under development and
properties held for sale included the following:

Bt B RSP YELFRELEME 2 AT TFER
ST BRI IEBIETAIRIE

o obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Group;

e HISKENAE BS
ZIEERE

B R 2 SN (A E Al A AR

° assessing the external valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
competence, objectivity and independence; and

o FHMEINEBEEMZER BBMRBEMD - UK
ERHE  BEUEREB W R

° involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in the assessment of the valuation
methodologies applied and the key assumptions
and estimates adopted in the valuations.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BREITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANEFSFNMERERRETSE

Valuation of investment properties

REYERZI1GE

The Group holds various investment properties in Hong
Kong and Mainland China for rental earning purpose.
Such investment properties were measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period and the aggregate
carrying amount of these investment properties as at 31
March 2021 was HK$4,643,205,000, which represented
approximately 22.7% of the total assets of the Group.
EREEREERPREANMIFE ZERE YA RNA
T RAAREMVENBREHNRRATEFERZF
BRENMER_T-_—F=A=+—HZEEBEA
4,643,205,000/87C * 1 BEEBEBEELN22.7% °

The Group engaged external valuers to perform the
valuation of these investment properties as at 31
March 2021 and in the absence of current prices in an
active market for similar properties, the external valuers
considered information from a variety of sources such
as current prices of properties with similar locations and
conditions, and estimated rental value of the relevant
properties, and made assumptions about capitalisation
rates. This is identified as a key audit matter because
significant estimation is required to determine the fair
values of investment properties, which reflect market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.
EEER T —F= A=+ — B EEINMEERIE Z
FREVFETHE MEEZRGEUYRETED
B EZ BRIBRZIERAT - INEMEEREZR T ZERE
BFTIS AR - Blan AL B AR 2 M 2 ERIER
IARABBEY 2 BEt A E - WHERNMEEREH KRR -
HESBh REREASE  DHREEREMEZATF
BEREHEAMG - AR RMEEBRZ SRR

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
valuation of investment properties are included in notes
2.4, 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRAREMEMEZGTBR REBRH N GFa P FEmE
fizE2.4 ~3Kk15¢°
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
investment properties included the following:

BAFHEREMELEZEEFBE TIRE

° obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuers engaged by the
Group;

e DBEKEMA EXEEZEZINIMLEMATRE
ZIEERE

° assessing the external valuers’ qualification,
experience and expertise and considering their
objectivity and independence;

o FHAINEBAERIZER KREIEMNZ - UK
ZRHE - FEMERB M

o involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in the assessment of the valuation
methodologies applied and the key assumptions
and estimates adopted in the valuation, and
performing benchmarking on the value of the
investment properties to the transaction prices of
other comparable properties on a sampling basis;
and

e  HEERMNABEEZERHEIBE AT HEET R
FER 2 (HE AR 2 R R FR AT s
B EME BEEREMAELBMEIRS
Bi% : &k

° comparing property-related data used as inputs
for the valuations with underlying documentation,
such as lease agreements.

e  HREMRERARIRZ WFEEBEIREMBR/E G
LLER - Bl E iR o



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B FTNNEEFARETSE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment in pharmaceutical and health food products business

BELRERmEMRBYF BB RZEZIRIETFE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) before current
year impairment of HK$1,069,145,000, which relate
to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) of pharmaceutical
and health food products. Given that the operating
results of the CGU was loss making for the current year,
management of the Company performed an impairment
assessment of the related property, plant and equipment
to determine their recoverable amounts based on either
their value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
RZEZ_—F=A=+—H - E5EEFEME"
BE Rk (BIEERBEEE) (MBRAREERER)
1,069,145,0008 7T - P RBERRERMERMIRE
EEB([ReEEEML])  @BRBAEEAEL KL
RENAFEREERE W EARERERBREAE
B AFEREEXNNEBEYE - BB MREETR
B7HE - AEEH AW EI S5 -

During the year, impairment of HK$39,741,000 was
made against these property, plant and equipment.
RAEE - BEXEEHZEYE  BERRBELR
18.39,741,0008 7T °

For impairment assessments using the value in
use calculations, our audit procedures included the
following:

HERAEREBEAEZRENGNE @ R EARF
BIETFIRIA

° enquiring of management in relation to the key
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections,
such as the revenue growth rates and gross
margins, and comparing them to historical
information and our understanding of latest market
information and conditions; and

s MERESHRSIMIERTARAOERMKRR
pland s B R R N EH R - 3 H L B R K
BB SO IS ERMARR R ELL R - &

° involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us with our assessment of the methodologies
and the discount rates used to determine the
recoverable amounts.

e  HHERMNHABEEZEXRGEFFIFEETE A K
[B] & AP A B 705 RITER K o

TEC-FFHR EREEERAA



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEFEITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMHOFAMAEERRETEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment in pharmaceutical and health food products business

(continued)

EHERRERMEMEFYF - BERZEZRETE (F)

The impairment assessment has been identified as a key
audit matter due to the materiality of the carrying values
of the property, plant and equipment and the significant
judgements and estimations involved in the assessment
of the recoverable amounts.

HEYE - B RREREE 2 EE2 M LA N FHEE AT U
Bl © 7RI P M E A HI R b5t - RERT ARSI R — TR
RETEIE -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
impairment of items of property, plant and equipment
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BEME - BEMRERBREZ @ BERIBESHN
e mENTE24 3K 140

134 Wang On Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

For impairment assessments using the fair value less
costs of disposal of the relevant property, plant and
equipment, our audit procedures included the following:
MERERYE - BREIRE 2 A FEREEXRZH
BEFENE - B2 ETRFBE THIEE :

° obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Group;

e HYSKEMA
ZhERS

BERBRE 2SN E{ERD AT RS

° assessing the external valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
competency, objectivity and independence; and

o  FHMEINEBIEERMZER KBEREERAB - AR
ZEHREN  FEERELE R

° involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in the assessment of the valuation
methodologies applied and the key assumptions
and estimates adopted in the valuations.

e BFERMNABEEERBEIBMAFGEES R
&R Z R 1B 77 E M PrER AR 2 BB RS A5t »



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEFEITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMHOFAMAEERRETEE

Impairment assessment of loans and interest receivables

FERE TR FIE 2 R IE S

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had loans and interest
receivables amounted to HK$602,915,000. Related
net impairment losses amounted to HK33,968,000
was recognised in profit or loss during the year, and
the related cumulative loss allowance amounted
to HK$64,294,000 was carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021.
RZZEZ—F=A=+—H' E5EEAEEKER
K A £.602,915,0007% 7T F A - 18 BE R 1E & 18 %
#33,968,000/8 TNIB A HER L IEE Rt BEE R
64,294,000 B TR T —F=A=+—HHGEEI%
Ht/ﬂ%luﬂif: ©

Management applied the general approach in calculating
the expected credit losses for these financial assets
and engaged an external valuer to assess the credit
risk of each debtor and prepare the expected credit
loss calculations. The external valuer applied various
inputs, which involved forward-looking information and
expected future cash flows, in assessing the expected
credit losses. Significant management judgements
and estimates were required in determining the loss
allowance for these financial assets under the expected
credit loss model in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments.
EREEZEeMEENTRREEFEERRA RS
% WERT —BINMEER T HEREFRANEER
B MRBTEHEEEEE - INEAEMTATRAGE
BREERATRNITE - S0P RAEEER RFEEAR
Xiﬁﬁlﬁmug ° *ETE’?%/%Eﬁ%i&%@EE'J%Q%ﬁﬂ%/ﬂ’IﬁE}‘]
BHEEEERN  ErZSFcREENEREERS
ZERAEANERHE RERT -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to
the impairment of loans and interest receivables are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.
HEWE R EREEBNE
B RaRMIzE2.4 - 3Kk 24 o

AERREBBEER SRS

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment
assessments of loans and interest receivables included
the following:

BB E R RFE 2 RE ETEF2E TS

RIF :

° obtaining and reviewing the expected credit
loss calculations prepared by the external valuer
engaged by the Group;

e IMEKENAE BEEEZEZINMEERMARER
ZEHEERRE

° assessing the external valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
objectivity and independence; and

o FHASINEBMEERIZ BAR - KRR FEMB - UK
ERHEET BEUEREB TN &

° involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in the assessment of the methodologies applied
and the key assumptions and estimates adopted
in the expected credit loss calculations.

. %ﬂ%ﬁzﬁﬁ’mﬁw@ X EFFEEREE
BETERMER 2 7 ERARA 2 R REN
flat °

TEC-FFHR EREEERAA



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEFEITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMHOFAMAEERRETEE

Purchase price allocation for a business combination

EBEHBEES

On 26 September 2019, the Group proposed a
general offer to acquire a maximum of 54.83% equity
interest in China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
(“CAP”) and a maximum of 46.86% of the outstanding
principal amount of convertible notes issued by CAP
(the “CAP Acquisition”). On 12 February 2020 (the
“Acquisition Date”), the CAP Acquisition was completed
and 5,312,395,685 shares of CAP were acquired at
HK$0.091 each and CAP became a 53.37%-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

RZZE-NFAAZ+TRA - E5EERLEZEEL -
NBRBEFEEEMRSERAR(HEEER]) &F
B483%MELFRREMBITNAIMRER &S
46.86% I AREEACE((TEEERKRBEER] - ©
—EEF_ATZA(RERR]D  AERERK
BEED A - WRFR0.01 BTKETEEE DA
5,312,395,685 %k fn * FRIREmMBZEK A EEEHE
B 53.37% Ewm MB AT °

Management of the Company accounted for the
CAP Acquisition as a business combination using
the acquisition method under HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations. In the preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2020, the gain on bargain purchase from the
CAP Acquisition was determined on a provisional basis.
ERAIEBERBEEVBME LA EIRRESHRE
AKEESEEEEARREREH EREE &R
ABZE_ZE_EF=-A=1T—HILFEZEEMKRE
- PERERBEEE ZEWBRGE KRR EEE

JE ©
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Our audit procedures to assess the purchase price
allocation for the CAP Acquisition included the following:
BT REEERKRBEERZBEES 2 FE
FrBE T AI&IA

o obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Group;

s BEKEMA EEEZEZINMEEMATRE
ZIEERE

° assessing the external valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
competence, objectivity and independence;

o FHEINEBIEERZER  KBRERIEMDE - AR
ZRHEE - BEMEREB M

o involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in the assessment of the valuation
methodologies applied and the key assumptions
and estimates adopted in the valuations;

e  BHERMNABEEZERHEIBEMATLEET R
&R Z (R 1B 775 M FrER A 2 BB (R 3% A5t ©



Key audit matter

BEFTER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

R ET MR R ETER

Purchase price allocation for a business combination (continued)

REEHZIEEESI ()

During the current financial year, with the assistance
of an external valuer, the Group has finalised the fair
value assessment of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed of CAP and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “CAP Group”) as at the Acquisition Date
and as a result, the gain on bargain purchase from the
CAP Acquisition was restated from HK$230,844,000 to
HK$571,478,000 in profit or loss during the year ended
31 March 2020. Retrospective adjustments were made,
and the financial effects of the adjustments are detailed
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
REABMBEER - EEEEIIDEEMG TERE
HPBREmMENBAR (B PEEREREE])
RS B EAFTI A 2 FIEBBI E E R AT E 2 BB AT
Bl At FERERKEBESEE 2 EZERE KRS
ERBE_ZE_ZTF=-A=+—HILFEEEEFH
230,844,000 ;L E 5! £571,478,0008 7T - EEH 1B
WA MEFARB BT EN G BRENT4
RRER o

This area is identified as a key audit matter given the
magnitude of the amount and significant management
judgement being required to determine the fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the CAP Group,
which was finalised during the year ended 31 March
2021.

LEEERAERESASTE RAREEETEE
Eu%%Zﬂ%&%%Uiﬁ%&ﬁﬁZ“%ﬁ(Eﬁ’é@z?:z
CT—F=ZA=T—HIEFERE)RAEETREREX
EIRE I

The nature and financial effects of the CAP Acquisition
are disclosed in notes 4 and 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BRATREERBEFTE ME RMBEEN G
WMERMITES R AP HEE -

obtaining and reviewing the judgements handed
down by the courts and legal advice from external
lawyers engaged by the Group for the liabilities of
CAP;

REREBHEREL 2 AR EEEREZ
HNEREERTSE R Bl R E m B BT RE A EER

checking the arithmetical accuracy of the gain on
bargain purchase from the CAP Acquisition; and
BEAEPHEEERKBEZE ZEKRELRE
BAEREN R

assessing the adequacy of the disclosures of
the CAP Acquisition in the consolidated financial
statements.

LGBk TEEER KRB ERLKE
Tl -

TEC-FFHR EREEERAA
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BB S ET S M B RREAENEM

BPNER SHSEAUBRREBRETRE
RN EFF SR AR M B A E A fE R R AES
BERE LHABFBERMERMNZHER
Fo BMBRARE-NN—FRADEFE WK
EHZRBRELRE - BRI RNEREL

EHMAR - AT EREBERENARTR
ERIEMALE FSAREEMELE -

BERERSKFNRE  EBETERERRE
BB EAMEITHE  ERX - BABRRA
TR AR RE B IR o S8 ERERM AT DA iy R sl g &R
Sl - IR A ETAME M= G K E AR IR AT 5E
TEEAVBRRERERBEE M ERERA
TR BV DR TE - RIAE BE A0 5 3R BR ot T 4248 1F
BXe

ERIEE BB ERETRABIED - A
ERTERHE RS TERRREE - R
DI

o FRIRFHE B R AGFKEE R M ETARS B
BHRAFAEERERRANER - &Rtk
MITERZF AL G LLEER - A SR IEEL
RRAMBENEERE - f’EZ%,ﬁfFﬁ%fﬁE’\]
Hit - ANIGFAIRES R BER - i
BER  ERRA - SORBERARRE %UZ
£ i RRE R A REF M RN E K HE
R BRI ) LR = I R BE B 3R [ 5 R T B 2K
MBS R AR -

o HRAFEESTARMAAEES - UERFHEE
MBI - BB M IFE Ex@W%B

EHRBREERRER

o HEESMRASHRRNREEREN
SRTMAT AR REN SR -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. CHUNG, Ho Ling.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

29 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBmkAtEERER

Year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —ZE-—F=F=+—RIIEZE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BRE FHET FAT
(Restated)
(1&E5)
REVENUE WA
Revenue from contracts with REEFPEH WA
customers 6 1,310,387 2,978,116
Interest income from treasury BB ER 2 FEUWA
operation 6 175,234 224,837
Revenue from other sources E b 3R Z A 6 407,964 237,770
Total revenue A 1,893,585 3,440,723
Cost of sales SHER A (1,135,644) (1,829,735)
Gross profit EF 757,941 1,610,988
Other income and gains, net E A K s F 58 6 186,629 825,624
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (234,372) (456,313)
Administrative expenses THEA (480,440) (435,915)
Impairment losses of financial assets, & RYEEFEE B FEE
net 7 (25,919) (70,328)
Other expenses HtEMA (44,182) (117,736)
Finance costs BhE R 8 (249,532) (225,252)
Fair value losses on financial instruments 12 A F{ET A8 2 4 Rl
at fair value through profit or loss, net L E A {EEIEF5E (32,595) (49,826)
Fair value losses on owned FrE a1 EMENTE
investment properties, net = bt 15 (95,391) (181,148)
Write-down of properties held for sale  #{EH & Y12 2 #MUR 21 (139,829) (9,663)
Share of profits and losses of: JEAG 5 T K 518
Joint ventures B 594,798 28,080
Associates /N 4,654 11,859
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FRAR BT g A 7 241,762 930,370
Income tax expense Fr BRI 11 (139,964) (146,117)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FE A 101,798 784,253
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Year ended 31 March 2021 & & —Z& =

==

F=A=1t—HILFE

2021 2020
—EB-—F —TTF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BRE FExT FHET
(Restated)
(F&E5)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hiv2EMz (EiE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HIg BRI E D EE
that may be reclassified to ?E 7 HAEHE
profit or loss in subsequent periods: Wz, (EE)
Debt investments at fair value through A F BT AH M2 E
other comprehensive income: W2 BFIRE -
Changes in fair value NEZE) 54,577 (96,997)
Reclassification adjustments for Mt ABRZ (W),
(gains)/losses included in EEEFHEAE
profit or loss:
— impairment losses/(reversal — REEE
of impairment losses), net CREEE
BEE) 5 20 (6,972) 52,746
— gain on disposal/redemption, — HE EE
net Was 558 (365) (117,930)
(7,337) (65,184)
Exchange differences on translation of ~ /BINERE 2 IEH =58
foreign operations 286,739 (83,845)
Other reserves: HAoth s -
Share of other comprehensive EE( 5 BETEHMEE
income/(loss) of joint ventures =,/ (E18) 9,337 (10,786)
Share of other comprehensive J,‘Efﬁ B AR HMEE
income/(loss) of associates Wi (EE) 9,978 (13,093
Release of other reserve upon ekl /N S
disposal of an associate HAbfFEER D 19,378 —
38,693 (23,879)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) Hi&HR A& HEE
that may be reclassified to BazH Ht2mis
profit or loss in subsequent periods (BE) F58 372,672 (269,905)
E-—FFK EREEFRAA



Year ended 31 March 2021 &2 T - —F=A=1+—BILFE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FAT
(Restated)
(ggE:5)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that E & HAR &~ & E 37
will not be reclassified to DEEBmEM
profit or loss in subsequent periods:  EE U (EE)
Equity investments at fair value through &2 F{EzF A b 2 m
other comprehensive income: H&¥ZH§TET§;§ :
Changes in fair value N EEE) 102,003 (87,057)
Deferred tax EETIA - 9,977
102,003 (77,080)
Share of other comprehensive loss of ~ fE(h—FEH & N a2
an associate Hih2mEE (869) (6,331)
Fair value adjustment upon transfer from BB R ¥EREIRE
owner-occupied property to Y2 N ERE
investment property, net of tax HIBRFR IR 58,683 —
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) E & HAR & EHH A
that will not be reclassified to iﬁ S EMEmEmlES
profit or loss in subsequent periods (B8) ¥ 159,817 (83,411)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FEHEMEEKE(BE)
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 532,489 (353,316)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FETEWRERE
FOR THE YEAR 634,287 430,937
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
GeBEKkHEMAEEWRER (F)

Year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —ZE-—F=A=+—RHIIEE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETHF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
BiaE FHET FHET
(Restated)
(re=%1)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: A&7 s,
(E18) -
Owners of the parent BARIREEFEA 123,884 474,860
Non-controlling interests AR (22,086) 309,393
101,798 784,253
Total comprehensive income ATEFEAEEERE
attributable to: 1a%E
Owners of the parent SAREZFEA 411,512 216,530
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R 222,775 214,407
634,287 430,937
EARNINGS PER SHARE HARIEARERITAA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY FEfh FRR AT
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13
(Restated)
(#L&E5)
Basic and diluted EAREE HKO.77 cents HK2.77 cents
0.77 &4l 2.77 A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI E

31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BiisE FExT FAT
(Restated)
(ggE:5)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BERHEE 14 1,313,246 1,373,298
Investment properties REYZ 15 4,588,305 4,609,816
Properties under development ERPYE 17 1,594,960 1,475,902
Investments in joint ventures RELEEEZIRE 18 2,324,842 1,976,654
Investments in associates JiAY RN s 19 2,832 69,903
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEGFAEMEE
other comprehensive income Wiz o REE 20 444,298 1,096,016
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFFABEZZ
profit or loss ERMEE 27 119,115 111,178
Loans and interest receivables FEWER T B 24 31,553 11,336
Prepayments, other receivables TARRRIE - HALEU
and other assets TR N H M EE 25 319,648 476,273
Deferred tax assets RIS B 35 9,337 4,607
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 10,748,136 11,204,983
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Properties under development BHRPYE 17 3,394,705 2,298,232
Properties held for sale BIELEWE 21 2,351,266 2,432,770
Inventories FE 22 162,670 155,061
Trade receivables FEUTBR 5K 23 71,208 88,773
Loans and interest receivables JrE B TR K KB 24 571,362 508,523
Prepayments, other receivables AR IR « HALEW IR
and other assets N E A& E 25 510,678 289,358
Cost of obtaining contracts EREH 2K 26 68,022 47,852
Financial assets at fair value through BEATFEFAHMER
other comprehensive income Wi SMEE 20 398,892 186,640
Financial assets at fair value through BAFERABRZ
profit or loss TRIEE 27 342,714 203,404
Tax recoverable EENEEE 41,060 29,381
Restricted bank balances ZBR BRI TR 28 22,302 8,157
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS ERIER 28 1,707,994 1,575,810
9,642,873 7,823,961
Assets classified as held for sale DELAREREZEE 29 54,900 59,900
Total current assets BREEE 9,697,773 7,883,861
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31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE FHET FA&TT
(Restated)
(F&E5)
CURRENT LIABILITIES meaE
Trade payables FEfTBRER 30 104,883 100,146
Other payables and accruals Ef e sRIE R ERTE R 31 1,077,081 791,977
Contract liabilities aHBE 31 598,078 569,785
Financial liabilities at fair value through 2 AF(EFABZRZ
profit or loss eRasE 27 5,392 5,022
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREAMEE
borrowings 88 3,269,339 2,656,906
Convertible notes AR = 34 131,901 =
Tax payable FEfS IR 256,868 355,767
Total current liabilities BrREaE 5,443,542 4,479,603
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEERE 4,254,231 3,404,258
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERTBAEE
LIABILITIES 15,002,367 14,609,241
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Unsecured notes EIRIR R 32 199,348 181,220
Interest-bearing bank FTRERITREMEE
and other borrowings 88 3,571,441 3,117,103
Financial liabilities at fair value through I AFEFFAEZEZ
profit or loss TRAE 27 13,684 —
Convertible notes AT SR 34 = 249,814
Other payables H A FER IR 31 540,908 707,834
Deferred tax liabilities BEBIERE 35 708,005 669,490
Total non-current liabilities wIEmEas 5,033,386 4,925,461
Net assets BEFE 9,968,981 9,683,780
ECEFEFR EREEERAT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)
REMBEARREK (E)

31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

2021 2020
e —ZETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
{hE=2 FET FHET
(Restated)
(#eE5)
EQUITY W
Equity attributable to owners of BARIERTE AEML
the parent Ex
Issued capital BEITARA 36 166,575 173,975
Reserves & 38 6,271,482 5,887,887
6,438,057 6,061,862
Non-controlling interests e R A 3,530,924 3,621,918
Total equity ek 9,968,981 9,683,780
Tang Ching Ho Stephanie
&0
Director Director
EBE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERSEIR
Year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —E-—F=F=+—HItFE

Atributable to owners of the parent

BOAREHEARE

Fair value
Share Far value eserve Exchange Non-
Issued premium  Contributed Teserve (non- Treasry ~ fuctuation Qther Capital Retained controling Total
capital account suplus — (recyciing) recycling) shares TeServe Teserves Teserve profts Total Inferests equity
ATERRE ATERR SHE

BEARE  RMEER  ERER  (THE) (FWEE)  BRRR  RBERE  EpRR  ERER REWH Ait kR s
Notes HKS000  HKGO00  HKSO0  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSOD  HKSO000  HKBOOO  HKS000  HKSOOO  HK$OMD
i TR TER TERL TER TERL ThRL TR TR TR TR TER TERL TERL

Note 36 Note36  Note 38(a) Note 38(c) Note 38(8)
K36 fiiEse  Hirdse Hisk38() iz 38)
At1 April 2019 R-Z-hE 178675 1,304,476 306,353 58,722 (84,306) (21918 (74) 582 (132572 4455460 6058733 2111481 8170214
MA-A
Proft for he year (Restated) FERRR (BE7) - - - - - - = = — 4480 4TAB0 309303 78423
Other comprehensive TEREMRE
income/{oss) forthe year: Wit/ (B8) -
Financial assets a far RATEA
value through other Efb2EREZ
comprehensive income; SREE:
Changes infar value, IS e
netoftar HBHE - - - @y ey - - - - -0 (16064 (7407
Redlassifcation iTAB&Z
adjustments for gains g &
included in proft or oss HER%
— Impaiment —BEEE
losses, net et = = - 46,738 - - - - - - 46,738 6,008 52,746
—Ganon —Eg/
redemption/ i3
disposal, net ezt = = - (76,291 - - - - - - (76,291) (41,639) (117,930)
Exchange diferences on R ES
transafion of foregn 28
operafions - - - - - - 48,697) - - - (48,697) (35,148) (83,845)
Shre of other ElbaErE
comprehensive loss Afb2EER
ofint ventues - - - - - - - (o7 - - (o7 - (o
Shere of other ERBERRLf
comprehensiv loss of 2GR
2550iies - - - - B - - e - B B (e
Total comprehensive income FERENREE
for the year (Restated) (i@35) = = - (118,758) (72,485) - 48,697) (18,390 - 474,860 216530 204407 430937
Shares repurchased E ezl
and canceled %) W (355 - - - - - - - - - B
Aoquistion of subsiciries WENEAA (E5))
(Restated) 40 - - - - - - - - - - - 1366818 1356873
Final 2019 diidend ENERERE 12 - - = - - - - - - (48024 (148024 1490 (14653)
Iteim 2020 vidnd CECEERERE 1) - - - - - - - - A IR mo 69
Dividend paid to MAERRE RS
non-controling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - (62,510) (62,510)
A3 Mach 200 Reseed) H-F-FEZR W5 128095 N6FF OO (560 @O (948 (T8 (RS ATGME 606 361918 96T
=+-R(8E5)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(CONTINUED)

n‘/j_\

= N
1:/

Year ended 31 March 2021 & & ==

==

22 EIR (E)
FZA=+t—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SARBERE AR
Fair value
Share Fairvalue reserve Exchange Asset Non-
Issued  premium Contributed  reserve (non-  Treasury fluctuation ~ Reserve Other revaluation ~ Capital Retained controlling Total
capital  account  surplus (recycling) recycling)  shares  reserve funds reserves  reserve  reserve  profits Total interests equity
ATERE ATERE AHE BE
BRRA ROEER EMES (788) (FuHE) EFRH RDGE REEE HEBE BHEE 448F RSEA At FERER 485
Notes ~ HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS'000  HK'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
i Tér TEr TEr TEr  TER  TER  TEm  TEn  FEn  TEn TEn  TEn TR TR TEn
Note36  Note 36 Note 38(a) Note 38(c) Note 38(d) Note 38(¢)
Wi K6 KT HizE38(c) K& 38(d) Kz 38(e)
At 31 March 2020, as orginel eported #=E-FF=F=1-7 - 173975 1260950 30633 (003 (156791) (27918 (49439) - (7809 — (132570 4566091 5862807 3178860 9,041,667
TE%EZ5)
Adustment arising prior year provisional - BB £ EF &3
acoounting EENER 4 - - - - - - - - - - - 199,055 199055 443058 642,113
At 1 April 2020 (Restated) R-Z-TEMA—H (&) 173975 1,260,951 306,353  (60,036) (156,791)  (27,918)  (49,439) - (172808 - (132572) 4765146 6,061,862 3,621,918 9,683,780
Proftfor theyear KEgH - - - - - - - - - - ~ 1384 12388 (2208 101798
Other comprehensive incomeffoss) £ 2ENE/ (Bi8) :
for the year:
Financial assets at fairvalue thiough -~ (RATFES AL 2ERE
other comprehensive income: SRAE:
Changes i fair value, net of tax ATERS  MRHE - - - 39250 104577 - - - - - - - 143821 12753 156,580
Reclassifcation acjustments for SABR NG ER
gains included in profit or loss HEAE
— Reversal of impaiment —BERESEE
losses, net - - - (5,459) - - - - - - - - (5,459 (1518 (6972
— Loss/[gain) on — BB/ LEEE/
redemption/clisposal, net (h&) 5% - - - 907 - - - - - - - - 0 (122 (369
Exchange differences on R ER R
translation of foreign operations - - - - - - 88243 - - - - - 88243 198496 286,739
Share of other comprehensive income [EEA B L2 EM2 AN
of joint ventures - - - - - - - - 9,331 - - - 9,331 - 9,331
Share of other comprehensive EEBEATEDRE
ncome{oss) of associates Wi/ (Bi) - - - - (505) - - - 519 - - - 520 3819 9100
Fair vaue adustment upon transfer ~~ ERNEERERE
from owner-occupied property to NE7ATERE
investment property, net of tax TBHE - - - - - - - - - 3408 - - 34083 24600 58683
Release of other reserve upon disposal  HER BB N E 2 KK
of investment in an associate: HEMERRL - - - - - - - - 11400 - - - 11400 7978 19378
Total comprehensive income for the year /2 EAEE - - - 34608 104072 - 8843 - 2658 34083 - 123884 411512 22775 634,287
Shares repurchased and canceled  JEEIREEER 36(0) (7,400)  (40,733) - - - - - - - - - - (4813 - (4813
Acquistion of non-controling interest ~ RERSHER R - - - - - - - - - - 179,206 - 179206 (219,008) (39,802
Final 2020 dividend - flfﬁiﬁﬁ% g 12 - - - - - - - - - - - (85,757)  (85,757) 887 (84,870)
Iferim 2021 didend 12 - - - - - - - - - - — (56N (5g) 720 (14941)
Disposal of ivestment in an associate  HiEM -SRI ZIRE - - - - 955 (64,687) - - - - - (955)  (64,687) - (64687)
Transfer to retained profits BRERAEH - - - - (60485 - - - - - - 60485 - - -
Transfer to reserve funds BERBREES - - - - - - - 547 - - - (83 (289 %5 -
Dividend paic to non-controling AFERERR RS
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - - (96,653 (96,653
At 31 March 2021 e 166,575 1,220,218" 306,353 (26,338 (112,249)* (92,605)* 38,805* 547+ 8724 34083  46,634* 4,846,310 6,438,057 3,530,924 9,968,981

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

HK$6,271,482,000 (2020: HK$5,887,887,000 (Restated)) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n\l_\éiﬁﬁiﬁéﬁ

Year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —ZE-—F=F=+—RIIEZE

2021 2020
—E-—fF e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BifEE FET FHAT
(Restated)
($& &%)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KEREEXG HERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BR 5 A A 241,762 930,370
Adjustments for: BT EE :
Finance costs BLE AR 8 249,532 225,252
Share of profits and losses of joint JEIh & & R E
ventures and associates NElm A & EE (599,452) (39,939)
Bank interest income T B UA 6 (7,128) (24,684)
Imputed interest income from debt BEBRE 2 mEtFEMA
investments (12,971) (5,156)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEREDHEZ
investment properties, net B8 (k) F58 6,7 208 (5,243)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of LEE - BENEE
property, plant and equipment, net ZEE (W) F8E 6,7 300 (56,293)
Gain on disposal/redemption of debt HE ERIEAFERA
investments at fair value through Htpzmiasz
other comprehensive income, net BEIFIRE 2 W F 58 6 (365) (117,930)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries, HEHRBARZ
net B (W) F88 6,7 (30,688) 4,326
Loss/(gain) on disposal of an associate & —REH& A F] 2
R (fas) 6,7 (16,863) 14,833
Fair value losses on financial liabilities BAFEFABR S/
at fair value through profit or loss, net BEZATEBREFHE 14,359 3,821
Fair value losses on owned BRKREME 2 ATE
investment properties, net EEFE 15 95,391 181,148
Fair value losses on sub-leased PHAREME 2 ATE
investment properties, net BB 15 206,409 118,742
COVID-19-related rent concessions B HMEAZ COVID-19
from lessors i 16 (6,888) (1,743)
Depreciation of owned assets BEEENE 7 91,185 78,731
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 7 52,877 71,632
Write-down of properties held for sale i 1EH E4¥%E 2 #MUR 21 139,829 9,663
Write-down of properties under RPN 2 MOR
development 7 - 3,842
Impairment losses TRIEEZRE
of financial assets, net B8 558 7 25,919 70,328
Impairment losses on items of M - B RFEEE
property, plant and equipment ZBIEEE 7 39,741 80,523
Allowance for obsolete inventories FREFERE 7 4,747 9,567
Accrued rent-free rental income Rt EES A 15 (1,562) 10
Gain on bargain purchase =EWENEARZ
of subsidiaries e 40 - (571,478)
Gain on modification/termination (BE] /R IETRE
of lease contracts B W= 6 (13,737) =
Loss on redemption of FE O iR = iR Es1E
convertible notes 7 3,933 —
476,538 980,322
“EC—FFR EREEFRAA
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Year ended 31 March 2021 &2 — T -—F=A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FAT
(Restated)
(ggE:5)
Decrease in properties held for sale RIELEMERLD 377,478 1,323,871
Increase in properties under BERP YL
development (1,481,769) (232,040)
Increase in inventories HFEE N (12,074) (3,031)
Increase in financial assets BAFEFAEAM
at fair value through profit or loss EEEN S FLE ELL N (147,247) (159,236)
Decrease/(increase) in cost of EREH 2K
obtaining contracts w(38hn) (20,170) 114,941
Decrease/(increase) in trade FEURER SR ~ TR RIA
receivables, prepayments, other HE I R EMmEE
receivables and other assets B (#hn) (27,284) 36,566
Decrease/(increase) in loans EREFRFERL, (1)
and interest receivables (113,052) 764,099
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables  FEfERFIE A0, O 4>) 924 (106,830)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables - th fE{~ 7xI8 & fE =t
and accruals AN, CRd) 194,825 (166,810)
Decrease in contract liabilities eraER> (16,930) (1,911,027)
Increase/(decrease) in deposits BliRe RIFERFRIA
received and receipts in advance #n, Crid) 7,031 (15,884)
Cash generated from/(used in) B EREE, (FTA)
from operations ik (761,730) 624,941
Tax paid [RANE A (256,952) (113,720)
Net cash flows from/(used in) IRESEIEFTS(FTA)
operating activities RenE F5 (1,018,682) 511,221
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Year ended 31 March 2021 &2 — T -—F=A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BiisE FExT FHET
(Restated)
(F&E5)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KERERGZAERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUERTTH B 6 7,128 24,684
Dividend income from a joint venture RE—MEETEDN
N 4,838 4,476
Dividend income from associates REBE R AR BUA 3,873 10,203
Investments in joint ventures REELEIFRE (112,773) (207,163)
Return of capital from an associate —REE R FREEAR - 2,364
Return of capital from joint ventures AETERBIER 870,190 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries gl hy=NG]) 40 - (118,500)
Additions to investment properties NEREMZE (72,736) (72,504)
Purchases of items of property, plant BAME  HEX
and equipment HiEIEE (64,764) (35,663)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value B AR A F{ET AHAM
through other comprehensive income  ZHEW a2 S EVEE (321,077) (1,558,459)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate H & —REH#&E N F 2
Fr{S3k18 48,515 —
Proceeds from disposal of investment  HE&EREYE 2 RS EUE
properties 4,992 192,075
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BEKE&#E 2
plant and equipment PS8 4,497 142,938
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZATFEFAHEME
assets at fair value through other Hs 2 SREEMS
comprehensive income IR 931,055 1,078,118
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHTE QA 41 91,683 280,852
Cash advanced to joint ventures BN FEELEZRE (547,873) (139,453)
Repayments of loans from joint ventures & & EEEER 41,565 —
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank PR #1745 64
balances ", () (13,036) 754
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing & EEFTS, (FrF)
activities REMEFHE 876,077 (395,278)
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Year ended 31 March 2021 & & —Z& =

==

F=A=1t—HILFE

2021 2020
—B-—F —T_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
(Restated)
(Ke&E7)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMEBEGHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid ERFE (268,173) (285,231)
Dividends paid BT E (99,811) (163,509)
Repayment of bank and other ERERTREMEE
borrowings (1,170,753) (1,329,669)
Repurchase of the Company’s shares BB AR &5 (48,133) (48,225)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest Y B& JEFE A 25 (39,802) =
New bank and other borrowings FIRITREMEE 2,203,307 1,187,905
Redemption of unsecured bonds B [0 I RES - (26,000)
Redemption of convertible notes fE [0 AR =t (130,000) =
Dividend paid to non-controlling MIEERR R Z MR E
shareholders (60,160) (62,510)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRAE IS (142,986) (124,379)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BMEFDEE(FTA)
financing activities e nE ¥ 243,489 (851,618)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HekReERIEE 2
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #®an, CRid) F58 100,884 (735,675)
Cash and cash equivalents FyRe kR ERER
at beginning of year 1,575,810 2,318,224
Effect of foreign exchange (ERE g s B FE
rate changes, net 31,300 (6,739)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FI[e RV ERTER
AT END OF YEAR 1,707,994 1,575,810
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

GeRenEar (&)

Year ended 31 March 2021 2 - —F=A=1+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETHF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FERT FAT
(Restated)
(Fe&E7)
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BeMReZFRERZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EHRDIT
Cash and bank balances He MIRI TR 1,307,242 1,205,492
Non-pledged time deposits BARRIEA DR
with original maturity = ARz EmEREH
of less than three months EE N
when acquired 28 400,752 370,318
Cash and cash equivalents as stated Lt REREMBIRRE 2
above and in the consolidated RekBFEERIER
statement of financial position 1,707,994 1,575,810
——FFR EREEFRLA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR R

31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wang On Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda, and its head office and
principal place of business are both located at Suite 3202,
32/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the following
principal activities:

o property development

L property investment

U fresh markets operation

o pharmaceutical and health food products business

° treasury management

o management and sale of properties in agricultural
produce exchange market operation
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BF RS AR My AT ()

31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

REAREEER (&)

REMBRAR2ER

AR EZZMBARZFHEAT

follows:
Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
ARER AR R &R LR A ARREEERA DL TEER
Direct  Indirect
=k Gk
Wang On Enterprises British Virgin Ordinary 100 — Investment
(BVI) Limited Islands US$1 holding
Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited XBRZES L@Eik1ET REER
Asia Brighter Investment Hong Kong Ordinary = 65.79 Property
Limited HKS$1 investment
HEREFRAT i EERET WERE
Billion Good Investment Hong Kong Ordinary — 65.65 Property
Limited HKS$2 Investment
BEREARRA i LRk 2B T MERE
China Agri-Products Exchange Bermuda Ordinary — 35611 Agricultural produce
Limited (“CAP”)® HK$99,530,678 exchange market
operation and
property sale
HEREMXHBERAR BRE TEmR REMR S5
(MhERER])® 99,530,678 7T RERMEHE
City Concord Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 75 Property
HKS$1 investment
ABERATF BB EERET MERR
TEC-FFHR EREEERAA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
LR R TEEEAC D)

31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREBEERE (&)

(continued)

REMBRR2ER (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

AR ETEMBARZHBWT « (8B)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
REER MR KRR R ARREEERA DL IEXH
Direct  Indirect
= A
Cloud Hero Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 65.79 Provision of
HK$1 financial services
Cloud Hero Limited 3 TRk 1AL Rt RS
Double Leads Investments British Virgin Ordinary — 100 Treasury
Limited Islands USS$1 management
EMEEBR AR RBRAHE ERR1ET HEER
East Run Investments British Virgin Ordinary = 75 Investment
Limited Islands US$1 holding
East Run Investments Limited EBRUHEE EBRA1ET REER
Ever Task Limited British Virgin Ordinary — 100 Investment
Islands USS$1 holding
Ever Task Limited RERLEE LER1ET RERK
Ever World Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary = 75 Property
HK$1 development
XERRRAE BB L@k 1BT WEER
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31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

REMBRR2ER (&)

ADTETEMBATZEBNT « (B)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
REER MR RE R R ARREEERA DL TEER
Direct  Indirect
E& Gk
Fulling Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Treasury
HK$10,000,000 management
EElNG i Tidk HEER
10,000,000787T
Greatest Wealth Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Sale of
HK$100 fresh pork
BETER A i LER100ET HERERA
Good Excellent Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 65.79 Property
HK$1 investment
BEHEARAA BB L@iR1BT MERE
Goodtech Management Hong Kong Ordinary — 75 Property
Limited HK$2,800,100 management
REERERAA BB T NEER
2,800,100/7T
Hopway Limited” Hong Kong Ordinary — 75 Property
HK$1 development
Hopway Limited 2 1 * 00 LRk MEERE
“EC-FFR EREEERAA
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31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREBEERE (&)
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMB AR ZER (&)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARREENBRARZFBOT : (8)
follows: (continued)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
REER MR RE R R ARREEERA DL IEXH
Direct  Indirect
E& Gk
Joint Hope Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 75 Property
HK$1 development
RZRRAH i EER1ET NERER
Kingtex Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary = 100 Property
HKS$1 investment
BEREBRATF BB ERR1ET WERE
Lanbo Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Property
HK$1 investment
BREEBR AT BE LR BT MERE
Luxembourg Medicine Hong Kong Ordinary — 65.65 Pharmaceutical
Company Limited HK$933,313 and health food
products business
EREREBARAA BB LAk 933,313 8T BELRERM
Em¥
Mailful Investments British Virgin Ordinary — 100 Investment
Limited Islands USS$1 holding
Mailful Investments Limited RERAES TR ET RERK
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

REMBRR2ER (&)

ARAEBHBARZFEOT : ()

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
ARER AR R &R R ANREEEZADL TEER
Direct  Indirect
E& M
Majorluck Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Fresh markets
HK$10,000 operation
SHERRA i LBk 10,0008 EIES)S
Newbo Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Property
HKS$1 investment
RERERARAA BB EERET WERE
Newex Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary — 75 Property
HKS$1 investment
NEERRA" G LR BT MERE
New Sino Investment Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Property
Limited HK$1 investment
MERERRAT 00 E@R1BT MERE
—E- 55 EREERRAF
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

REMBRR2ER (&)

AR ETEMBARZHBWT « (8B)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
ARER AR R &R LR A ARREEERA DL TEER
Direct  Indirect
=k M
Oriental Sino Investments Hong Kong Ordinary — 65.79 Property
Limited HKS$2 investment
REREBRAA i3 EER2ET MERE
Regal Smart Investment Hong Kong Ordinary = 100 Investment
Limited HK$1 holding
BHRREARAA i EERET REER
Rich United Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary — 52.5 Property
HK$1 development
KEBRAR" i TER1ET WEER
Richly Gold Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Property
HK$2 investment
TBERATF BB L@R2BT MERE
Samrich Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Property
HK$1 investment
ENREBRAR BB EdR1BT WERE
Sole Champion Limited* British Virgin Ordinary — 75 Investment
Islands US$1 holding
Sole Champion Limited* RERAHE TER1ET REER
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

REMBRR2ER (&)

AR ETEMBARZHBWT « (8B)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
ARER AR R &R LR A ARREEERA DL TEER
Direct  Indirect
=k M
Sunbo Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 65.79 Property
HK$1 investment

REREBRAA i3 EER1ET MERE
Vincent Investments Hong Kong Ordinary — 75 Property

Limited* HK$2 development
XERERRAF" i @A NEER
Wai Yuen Tong Hong Kong Ordinary = 65.79 Property

Company Limited HK$1 holding
fTERR AR i LER1BT MEER
Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Macau Ordinary — 65.65 Pharmaceutical

Limited Macau Pataca and health food

25,000 products business
fiTE (RPM) BRAR P &R BERRERM
25,0009 EmEH

Wai Yuen Tong Hong Kong Ordinary — 65.65 Pharmaceutical

(Retail) Limited HK$2 and health food

products business
i (ZE)BRAA Bt Edk2BT BERRERM
Em¥R

i
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

EENMBLR2ER (&)

AR ETEMBARZHBWT « (8B)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
REER MR RE R LR A ARREEERA DL TEXH
Direct  Indirect
Hi# Gk
Wai Yuen Tong Hong Kong Ordinary — 65.65 Pharmaceutical
Medicine Company HK$13,417,374 and health food
Limited Non-voting products business
deferred shares™*
HK$17,373,750
T EERER A i3 EE BERRERM
13,417,374 37T EmE
BRFHE
17,373,750 70
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Bermuda/ Ordinary = 65.79 Investment
Holdings Limited (“WYTH") Hong Kong HK$12,316,428 holding
T EERERER AR BRE/BE TEmR REERR
(TR 22 ) e 12,316,428 77T
Wang On Management Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Provision of
Limited HK$2 management
services
REERARRA B8 LER2AET REEERG
Wang On Majorluck Hong Kong Ordinary - 100 Fresh markets
Limited HK$1,000 operation
LEREBRAA BB LBk 1,000/ EOES
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31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

REMBRR2ER (&)

AR ETEMBARZHBWT « (8B)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
ARER MR RE R LR A ARREEERA DL TEER
Direct  Indirect
=k Gk
Wang On Properties Limited Bermuda/ Ordinary — 75 Investment
(“‘wopje Hong Kong HK$15,200,000 holding
ERMEBRAR] BRE/ BB Lidk REER
(TR&HE])® 15,200,000 7T
Wang On Properties Hong Kong Ordinary = 75 Provision of
Services Limited HK$1 management
services
LM ERBERADA BB EER1ET RER RSB
Wang On Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary = 75 Provision of
HK$1 management
services
RERBARRA i LTER1ET REERRY
Winhero Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 100 Property
HK$1 investment
ERREBRAA 353 E@R1BT MERE
Wise Ocean International Hong Kong Ordinary = 75 Property
Limited HK$2 holding
BFERARAA B LdR2BT MEER
TEC-FFHR EREEERAA
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

AR ETEMBARZHBWT « (8B)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
ARER AR R &R AR ARREEERA DL TEER
Direct  Indirect
=k &
Mt 8% People’s Republic Registered - 65.65 Pharmaceutical
BRAE of China capital and health food
(the “PRC”)/ Renminbi products business
Mainland China (‘RMB”)
102,000,000
AYTTE L RS hEE AR AME AMRAARE RELRERM
BRAT (TRE]) /R ElAit, (TAR%]) Em#EH
102,000,000 7T
BB (M) BEER The PRC/ Registered - 65.79 Property holding
BRAA™ Mainland China capital
HK$100,000,000
BE(R) BEERRE HE/ R ER BRIEN MEER
AR AR 100,000,000 /7T
BNEFEERE The PRC/ RMB61,220,000 — 17.91 Agricultural
AR A E Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
MR EERR hE/RERNS  AR%61,220,0007C REMIHTIHEE
BRAR
REEVMERIER The PRC/ RMB88,500,000 - 35117 Agricuttural
A5 ERAR Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
READMNREIER RE/RERE AR 88,500,000 BEMIHTIHEE

ATEHRAR

166 Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BRI ()
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

AR ETEMBARZHBWT « (8B)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BROTER/
ARER AR R &R AR ARREEERA DL TEER
Direct  Indirect
=k &
INEERRIERIE The PRC/ RMB76,230,000 - 3511" Agricultural
AR A (“Yulin Mainland China produce exchange
Hongjin”)*** market operation
and property sale
FHEERERIERSE HE/ R ER ARE BRERRST%
misAR AT 76,230,0007C RERDEHE
[ BT
INEEDRER The PRC/ RMB80,000,000 — 3511 Agricultural
BRAA™ Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
and property sale
FHEEDRER L/ HEN ARH REMRHM5
BRAR 80,000,0007T RERMEEE
PN R R RIE R E The PRC/ RMB150,000,000 — 35.11* Agricultural
miaARA R Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
and property sale
PNEERBIER I HE /B, AR RERR S5
misERAR ™ 150,000,000 7T BERMEHE
AR REIERIE The PRC/ US$23,230,000 - 3611 Agricultural
msaRA R Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
and property sale
BT REIE R hEl/ BN 23,230,000 % 7T BERI NS
TS aRAR BERMEHE
“EC R RREBFRRAF
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

REMBRR2ER (&)

AR ETEMBARZHBWT « (8B)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
ARER MR RE R LR A ARREEERA DL TEER
Direct  Indirect
=k Gk
RS RERRERIETS The PRC/ HK$180,000,000 — 3611 Agricultural
BRAE Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
and property sale
RELERBERRETS hEl/ R 180,000,000 %7C BERR SN
BRAT ™ BERMEHE
BESLERBERSENS The PRC/ RMB2,000,000 - 26.34" Agricuttural
BRAR Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
and property sale
BEEERRER S ETS HE/ R E R AR RERRH NS
BRAE 2,000,0007T BERMEHEE
BRTERBERMENS The PRC/ US$10,000,000 - 3511 Agricuttural
BRAA™ Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
and property sale
BHLEREERREDS e/ R 10,000,000% 7T REMX 5T
BRDA] BERMEHE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

REAREEER (&)

ZN

AXEMBARZHBENT : (B)

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation and share capital/ equity attributable Principal
Name business registered capital to the Company activities
BRTEE/
ARER AR R &R AR ANREEEZADL TEER
Direct  Indirect
B &
ERRERBERR The PRC/ US$29,300,970 — 3511 Agricultural
BRAE Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
and property sale
RRTERBERDR i /A 29,300,970 % 7T BERR S TS
BRAT ™ BERMEHE
BERRERRIERIE The PRC/ RMB2,000,000 - 28.09" Agricuttural
AR A R Mainland China produce exchange
market operation
BATERBIERIE B /BRI AEH REMIHNHEE
TaERRR ™ 2,000,0007T

Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by share charges
over of the equity interests of these subsidiaries (note 33).

> These companies are subsidiaries of a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and, accordingly, are accounted for
as subsidiaries by virtue of the Company’s control over them.

The non-voting deferred shares carry no voting rights or rights
to dividends. On the winding-up of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Company Limited, the non-voting deferred shares have a right to
repayment in proportion to the amounts paid up on all ordinary
and deferred shares after the first HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof
has been distributed among the holders of the ordinary shares.

ok

A wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

© Listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”).

ke

Hkkok

REEE TRITERBZSH B AR 2 K
Z B3R e R (PHEESS) ©

ZERFRARR—EERENE AR R
BATE - WHEERARR RS ZERRIRE
T AR A RIARR ©

ERFRECROERELEIHBEKS
ZHEF o RUTEZERAERARSGHR
B mE¥BRBEEADREBEHEZEE
1,000,000,000,000 % 7T 1% » 1% EREIE T
DB IRFT A L@k MIEENR 2 BEH
RIS IREFIE -

RELER THINEEEDRSE -

REBBEZZMARAR ([ EBHBA])
ERET ©

“EC-FFHR EREEERR
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31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Details of the subsidiaries acquired and disposed of during
the year are summarised in notes 40 and 41 to the financial
statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
and financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.
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31 March 2021 —ZE=-—%=H=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.1 RAEE (&)

BAVBEBRRBEARARREWNERAEH
BT FZA=+—HILFEZHH
Wk - MBARAARR R EZEKHEEZES
MEB(BREABMER) ELAEEEX
RN FHLHAREBHREBMSH A&
- Bt d B EHRAOE D (R T
AEEBRBRNEIEREHREBEHN
REFRER) R 2 E R R - BIESIES]
TE o

HARRERIEEREEIRREHRK
ZHRERBLER - AR RERF
HROABEHREHRNENE 82 F
—tIHREEERIER - B -

(@) HEREURHEMIBREETAANEGD
ZhE

(b) HiAHTHPIEENER &
(€ ARBNEFRMBERTE-

f B8~ RV B TS R R TO L AR 2 R Z AR ¥R
THERER B2 BRAR - B
NEZ EETI R AR BERE I 2 B
W aFE  THESFREAREERE
BRAESIEZ BRI -

BahkEME2EERSEXIED TIEBN
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2.2

31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material
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31 March2021 —Z=-—F=H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) sets out a
comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting
and standard setting, and provides guidance for
preparers of financial statements in developing
consistent accounting policies and assistance to all
parties to understand and interpret the standards.
The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on
measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities,
and updated definitions and recognition criteria
for assets and liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of
stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty
in financial reporting. The Conceptual Framework is
not a standard, and none of the concepts contained
therein override the concepts or requirements in any
standard. The Conceptual Framework did not have
any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

2.2 SEBERRREZ2E (F)
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide
additional guidance on the definition of a business.
The amendments clarify that for an integrated set of
activities and assets to be considered a business, it
must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed
to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are
capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services
provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and introduce
an optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to transactions
or other events that occurred on or after 1 April 2020.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

()

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
address issues affecting financial reporting in the period
before the replacement of an existing interest rate
benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”).
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which
enable hedge accounting to continue during the period
of uncertainty before the introduction of the alternative
RFR. In addition, the amendments require companies
to provide additional information to investors about
their hedging relationships which are directly affected
by these uncertainties. The amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group as the Group does not have any interest
rate hedging relationships.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that
materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information, or both. The amendments did not have
any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendment to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework®

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2!

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor
and its Associate
or Joint Venture®
COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 20212
Insurance Contracts*
Insurance Contracts*”

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current*®
Disclosure of Accounting
Policies*
Definition of Accounting
Estimates*
Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction*
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before
Intended Use®
Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfiling a Contract®
Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 413

176 Wang On Group Limited  Annual Report 2021
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

(continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

S As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to
align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

’ As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference to
the Conceptual Framework for